

**Division of the National Health Laboratory Service** 



## 2023 GERMS-SA: ANNUAL SURVEILLANCE REVIEW



Annual Surveillance Training Meeting, Birchwood Conference Centre in Johannesburg, 25 - 26 October 2023





# 

# **GERMS-SA:** ANNUAL SURVEILLANCE REVIEW

### THE GERMS-SA ANNUAL REVIEW 2023 WAS COMPILED BY THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR COMMUNICABLE DISEASES, A DIVISION OF THE NATIONAL HEALTH LABORATORY SERVICE, JOHANNESBURG, SOUTH AFRICA.

Editors	
Ms Tiisetso Lebaka	Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response
Dr Vanessa Quan	Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response
Graphic Design and Editor	
Mr Athenkosi Mjobo	Communications
Ms Laura De Almeida	Communications
Contributing Authors	
Dr Caroline Maluleka	Centre for Healthcare-associated Infections, Antimicrobial Resistance and Mycoses (CHARM)
Ms Liliwe Shuping	Centre for Healthcare-associated Infections, Antimicrobial Resistance and Mycoses (CHARM)
Dr Susan Meiring	Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis (CRDM)
Dr Jackie Kleynhans	Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis (CRDM)
Prof. Anne von Gottberg	Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis (CRDM)
Dr Linda Erasmus	Centre for Enteric Diseases (CED)
Dr Keeren Lutchminarain	Centre for Enteric Diseases (CED)

Please contact the NICD division which co-ordinates GERMS-SA, the Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response (DPHSR), for further information:

#### **Physical address:**

**National Institute for Communicable Diseases, a Division of the National Health Laboratory Service** PRF Building, 1 Modderfontein Road, Sandringham, Johannesburg, 2192

#### **Postal address:**

**National Institute for Communicable Diseases, a Division of the National Health Laboratory Service** Private Bag X4, Sandringham, 2131, South Africa

#### **Postal address:**

National Institute for Communicable Diseases, a Division of the National Health Laboratory Service Private Bag X4 Sandringham 2131 South Africa

**Telephone:** +27 11 386 6234 **Facsimile:** +27 11 386 6221

The GERMS-SA website can be accessed via the NICD website: https://www.nicd.ac.za/internal-publications/germs-sa/

Suggested citation: GERMS-SA 2023 Annual Report. Available from: https://www.nicd.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/12/2023-GERMS-SA-Annual-Review.pdf

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	7
Methods	7
Operational Report	8
Surveillance reports	10
Enhanced surveillance site project	10
Cryptococcus species	11
<ul> <li>Escherichia coli</li> </ul>	13
<ul> <li>Neisseria meningitidis</li> </ul>	17
► Haemophilus influenzae	20
Streptococcus pneumoniae	24
Group A Streptococcus (Streptococcus pyogenes)	28
Group B Streptococcus (Streptococcus agalactiae)	31
<ul> <li>Enteric fever (typhoid and paratyphoid fever): Salmonella enterica serotype Typhi and S. enterica serotypes Paratyphi A, Paratyphi B and Paratyphi C</li> </ul>	36
Nontyphoidal Salmonella enterica (NTS)	38
<ul> <li>Shigella species</li> </ul>	42
Campylobacter species	45
► Listeriosis	47
<ul> <li>Vibrio cholerae</li> </ul>	48
► References	49
Summary	50
Publications	51
Acknowledgements	56

### INTRODUCTION

The GERMS-SA surveillance platform, co-ordinated by the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD), remains a critical part of tracking and monitoring infectious diseases across South Africa. In 2023, GERMS-SA continued its mission to provide pathogen-specific data on a range of diseases and support public health decision-making through reliable laboratory-based surveillance. The annual review reflects the activities undertaken during this period, highlighting the achievements, data outcomes, and collaborations that have been central to these efforts. Despite these successes, the year also brought several challenges, including data inconsistencies, laboratory delays, and operating at reduced capacity due to unfilled positions resulting from cost-containment policies. The number and viability of isolates received by NICD reference laboratories continued to be negatively affected, resulting in the inability

to perform antimicrobial susceptibility testing and serotyping/ serogrouping on the missing isolates. While case patient notification reports from the Surveillance Data Warehouse (SDW) and Notifiable Medical Conditions (NMC) helped address some of these challenges, there is still a need for improved co-ordination and communication between GERMS-SA and participating laboratories.

Looking ahead, GERMS-SA is committed to refining its processes, optimising its collaborations, and improving data quality and timeliness. We urge all microbiology laboratories, in their challenged capacities, to continue to participate in laboratory surveillance so monitoring can continue and strengthen the network's capacity to respond to emerging public health threats. We thank you for your ongoing service to the health of all South Africans.

### **METHODS**

In 2023, diseases under surveillance included:

- 1. Opportunistic infections associated with HIV, e.g., cryptococcosis and invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD).
- Epidemic-prone diseases, e.g., Neisseria meningitidis, Salmonella enterica serotype Typhi, Salmonella enterica serotype Paratyphi A, B, and C, Nontyphoidal Salmonella species, Shigella species, Vibrio cholerae, Diarrhoeagenic Escherichia coli, Campylobacter species, Listeria species, and Streptococcus pyogenes.
- 3. Vaccine-preventable diseases, e.g., *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib), *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, and *Streptococcus agalactiae*.
- 4. Healthcare-associated bloodstream infections caused by ESKAPE organism *Escherichia coli*.

The methods applied by the GERMS-SA surveillance programme have been previously described in detail (1).

In brief, approximately 222 South African clinical microbiology laboratories participated in the surveillance programme in 2023. The estimated population under surveillance in 2023 was at 62.2 million (Table 1). Diagnostic laboratories reported case patients to the NICD using laboratory case report forms, according to standard case definitions. If available, isolates from case patients were submitted on Dorset transport media to the NICD for further phenotypic and genotypic characterisation. From 1 July 2008 to 31 December 2013, surveillance methodology for the cryptococcal project was changed, so that only enhanced surveillance sites (ESS) (29 hospitals in 9 provinces), NHLS laboratories in KwaZulu-Natal province, and laboratories in the private, mining, and military sectors were required to send cryptococcal isolates to NICD. All other cases of cryptococcosis were detected through the NHLS Surveillance Data Ware-house (SDW), which stores information from Disa\*Lab and TrakCare laboratory information systems. Cryptococcal isolates, obtained from patients at enhanced surveillance sites, continued to be characterised by phenotypic and genotypic tests through 2013. Between 2015 and 31 July 2022, no isolates were collected and all cryptococcal cases were detected through the NHLS SDW. From 1 September 2022, Cryptococcus surveillance for flucytosine susceptibility testing started. Cryptococcus isolates from all NHLS laboratories with flucytosine access sites and all Western Cape Province NHLS laboratories were submitted to the NICD. For this annual report, only cryptococcal data from the current and immediate previous year(s) were analysed. Thus, some fraction of cases reported as incidents in these 2 years might be misclassified because they were not cross-checked against a line list of individuals who had cryptococcal meningitis, other culture-positive cryptococcal disease, or antigenaemia in the years prior to the analysis period. This could lead to an overestimation of the disease incidence in these 2 years.

Between April 2023 and September 2023, the Centre for Healthcare-Associated Infections, Antimicrobial Resistance and Mycoses (CHARM), performed an enhanced surveillance and laboratory investigation of extra-intestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (ExPEC) isolates from sterile sites to include epidemiological, prevalence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR), and pathogenicity analysis.

Enhanced surveillance (ES) was not conducted on any of the enteric pathogens in 2015; however, ES was restarted in 2016 for Salmonella Typhi, and in 2019 for Nontyphoidal Salmonella species and Salmonella enterica serotype Paratyphi A, B, and C. The Centre for Enteric Diseases runs the active surveillance programme on enteric fever, listeriosis, and cholera, which are classified as Category 1 Notifiable Medical Conditions (NMCs). Reporting of all cases through the NMC platform by healthcare workers and laboratorians is mandatory, and every notification is followed up by the centre team. For each case, this includes contacting the diagnostic laboratory to facilitate referral of isolate(s) and contacting relevant healthcare professionals or Department of Health officials to facilitate completion of specific case investigation forms. GERMS-SA surveillance officers at enhanced surveillance sites (ESS) assisted with completing the NMC case investigation forms for cases identified at their sites.

For 2023, at ESS (30 hospitals in 9 provinces), surveillance officers completed clinical case report forms electronically using the REDCap database, on tablets, for patients with eleven laboratory-confirmed diseases: cryptococcosis, extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (in four provinces), invasive pneumococcal disease, invasive meningococcal disease, invasive *Haemophilus influenzae* disease, invasive Group A Streptococcus disease, invasive Group B Streptococcus disease, invasive Salmonella Typhi disease, Paratyphi A,B,C, Nontyphoidal diseases (country-wide), and Listeriosis by case patient interview or hospital medical record review, to obtain additional clinical details, in-cluding antimicrobial use, vaccination history, HIV status, and patient outcome. Case patients were followed up only for the duration of the hospital admission. Data management was centralised at the NICD. Laboratory, clinical, and demographic data from case patients were recorded on a Microsoft Access database. A surveillance audit was performed for NHLS laboratories in all provinces using the NHLS CDW. For all diseases under surveillance, except cryptococcosis, the audit was designed to obtain basic demographic and laboratory data from additional case patients with laboratory-confirmed disease not already reported to GERMS-SA by participating laboratories. Data from case patients, detected by audit, were included on the surveillance database and have been included in this report. Incidence was calculated using mid-year population estimates for 2022 and 2023 from Statistics South Africa (Table 1) (2). Incidence in the HIV-infected and AIDS populations was calculated for 2022 and 2023 using the Thembisa Model; Johnson LF, et al., (2022); The effect of HIV programmes in South Africa on national HIV incidence trends, 2000-2019; Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 90: 115-123 (Table 1) (3). All reported incidence is expressed as cases per 100 000 population, unless otherwise stated. Reported p-values were calculated using the Mantel-Haenszel chi-squared test, and p values <0.05 were considered significant throughout. Ethics approval for the ongoing activities of the surveillance programme was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical), University of Witwatersrand, and from relevant University and Provincial Ethics Committees for other enhanced surveillance sites. Surveillance activities were funded by the NICD/NHLS.

Province	General po	opulation*	HIV-infected population**			
	2022	2023	2022	2023		
Eastern Cape	6 676 691	7 150 858	871 928	880 306		
Free State	2 921 611	3 022 882	429 242	428 498		
Gauteng	16 098 571	15 639 891	1 885 800	1 906 310		
KwaZulu-Natal	11 538 325	12 161 867	1 981 840	1 975 690		
Limpopo	5 941 439	6 335 306	703 442	715 780		
Mpumalanga	4 720 497	4 984 096	752 213	753 263		
Northern Cape	1 308 734	1 356 580	104 872	105 791		
North West	4 186 984	4 091 587	537 458	541 410		
Western Cape	7 212 142	7 437 324	517 333	530 089		
South Africa	60 604 992	62 180 391	7 784 128	7 837 137		

#### Table 1. Population denominators used to calculate incidence rates, South Africa, 2022 and 2023

Data source: \*Statistics South Africa, \*\*Thembisa Model; Johnson LF, et al. (2022) The effect of HIV programs in South Africa on national HIV incidence trends, 2000-2019. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 90: 115-123

### **OPERATIONAL REPORT**

#### Site operations and challenges

In 2023, NICD staff continued conducting site visits and providing training at enhanced surveillance sites and laboratories; however, several operational challenges affected various sites. In January, Klerksdorp/Tshepong complex in North West ran out of reagents, and Chris Hani Baragwanath Academic Hospital, along with other laboratories, continued to face shortages of essential items like Mueller Hinton, chocolate, and 5% sheep blood agar plates. Severe weather in Durban led to the flooding in the medical records room at RK Khan Hospital, complicating access to records. Many smaller sites reported a slow start to the year, with fewer lab-confirmed cases than expected. Planned renovations at Rahima Moosa Hospital in May 2023 disrupted patient flow, with admissions redirected to Discovery and Nelson Mandela Children's Hospitals. Similarly, renovations at the Helen Joseph Hospital NHLS laboratory, initiated in June 2023, remain incomplete. Staffing challenges due to resignations and frozen positions posed additional difficulties, while cost-saving measures limited travel and inperson surveillance officer (SO) meetings, shifting them to virtual platforms like Zoom. Significant personnel changes included the resignation of a roving technician, two SOs, one Field Project Co-ordinator, and the termination of contracts for one SO and one Research Assistant.

#### Table 2. Cases detected by surveillance audit by province, 2023

#### **Co-ordination of meetings**

In 2023, GERMS-SA staff involved in respiratory syndromic sentinel surveillance attended a training workshop from 25-27 October at the Birchwood Conference Centre, Johannesburg. The objective was to refresh, update, and train staff on standardised procedures while enhancing quality control practices. Similarly, GERMS-SA lab-based surveillance staff attended virtual training sessions over the Zoom platform on 6–8 December 2023. These workshops focused on addressing common errors, standardising procedures, and improving quality control of the data.

#### Surveillance audit

A total of 14 138 surveillance cases were detected by GERMS-SA in 2023. Excluding the cases of cryptococcosis (n=4278), which are all detected by audit, 3268/9860 (33%) of cases were detected by audit of the NHLS Corporate Data Warehouse (Table 2) and isolates not sent to the NICD by the clinical microbiology laboratories (excluding *Cryptococcus* spp.) GERMS-SA constantly strives to reduce the number of cases detected on audit by raising awareness of the surveillance programme; this is important because GERMS-SA is unable to perform additional microbiological characterisation of isolates detected only through audit.

Surveillance case		cases detected	ases detected Number of cases detected by audit									
		n <sub>1</sub> /n <sub>2</sub> (%)		FS	GA	KZ	LP	MP	NC	NW	WC	SA
	Cryptococcosis**	4278/4278 (100)	720	135	918	976	306	310	54	312	547	4278
	Escherichia coli	827/1609 (51)	-	21	544	100	-	-	-	-	162	827
Non-typhoidal salmonellosis† Shigellosis Invasive Meningococcal disease	Non-typhoidal salmonellosis†	225/1033 (22)	19	8	117	42	3	7	2	3	14	225
	Shigellosis	12/42 (29)	1	0	5	5	0	0	0	0	1	12
	Meningococcal disease	7/107 (7)	0	0	2	0	0	0	2	0	3	7
	Haemophilus	100/201 (22)	70	28	149	76	14	15	11	37	55	455
	influenzae disease	100/301 (33)	4	3	26	19	6	3	3	4	32	100
	Pneumococcal disease	455/1807 (25)	70	28	149	76	14	15	11	37	55	455
	Streptococcus pyogenes	394/919 (43)	27	18	162	44	8	12	6	7	110	394
	Streptococcus agalactiae	566/1003 (56)	18	21	284	135	15	24	5	22	42	566
Non-	Non-typhoidal	/05/2120 (23)	66	26	140	121	27	25	6	35	10	/05
invasive	salmonellosis†	495/2129 (25)	00	20	140	121	27	ZJ	0	55	49	490
	Shigellosis	187/910 (21)	29	9	27	60	4	6	2	7	43	187
	Total (excl crypto)	3268/9860										
		(33%)										

Percentage of cases detected by audit = number of cases detected on audit (n1)/total number of cases detected by GERMS-SA (n2) x 100;\*\*All cases of cryptococcal disease are detected by LIS audit and no isolates are received; therefore this disease is excluded from the total; †Excludes cases of Salmonella enterica serovars Typhi, and serovars Paratyphi A, B and C; EC: Eastern Cape; FS: Free State; GA: Gauteng; KZ: KwaZulu-Natal; LP: Limpopo; MP: Mpumalanga; NC: Northern Cape; NW: North West; WC: Western Cape; SA: South Africa: BC: Blood culture.

#### Enhanced surveillance site performance indicators

The proportion of completed CRFs was higher than that in 2022. Although restrictions to the records department were relaxed and surveillance officers were conducting face-to-face interviews with patients, poor record systems in many hospitals were still an issue. Some patients were discharged or referred to another facility with their records, leaving the original facility without complete documentation (Table 3); 4408/4852 (91%) of cases had a case report form (CRF) completed (target=90%). Delays in identifying eligible patients and limited follow-up opportunities at sites impacted heavily on consenting and interview rates. A total of 1956 (44%) CRFs were completed through patient interviews, falling short of the 70% target.

Since 2007, enhanced surveillance site operational reports (ESSOR) have been provided to the site co-ordinators, laboratory staff, and surveillance officers to enable the site team to regularly review site performance in comparison with set targets. The main objective of these reports is to provide information regarding the overall functioning of the surveillance site by providing indicators of laboratory participation (submission of isolates) and indicators of surveillance officer performance (completion of CRFs). By reviewing these indicators, problems with data collection can be targeted, and recommendations are provided to improve the site performance.

#### Table 3. Enhanced surveillance site performance indicators, 2023

Enhanced surveillance site	Case patients, n	Completed forn n (%	case report ns*, 6)**	Case report forms completed by interview, n (%)***	
Addington <sup>1</sup>	52	50	96	24	48
Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic 1	491	467	95	237	51
Chris Hani Baragwanath/ Zola-Jabulani District 1	904	799	88	324	41
Dr George Mukhari <sup>1</sup>	216	205	95	110	54
Edendale/ Greys'/ Northdale 1	295	288	98	165	57
Groote Schuur/ Red Cross <sup>1</sup>	525	485	92	220	45
Helen Joseph/ Rahima Moosa Mother & Child <sup>1</sup>	508	459	90	198	43
Kimberley	53	32	60	4	13
King Edward VIII/ Inkosi Albert Luthuli Central Hospital <sup>1</sup>	140	134	96	55	41
Klerksdorp/Tshepong	133	104	78	55	53
Mankweng/ Polokwane/ Seshego	139	129	93	58	45
Pelonomi/ Universitas <sup>1</sup>	166	146	88	73	50
Port Elizabeth/ Dora Nginza/ Livingstone	380	346	91	128	37
RK Khan <sup>1</sup>	180	156	87	66	42
Rob Ferreira/ Themba	88	82	93	33	40
Steve Biko Pretoria Academic/Tshwane District <sup>1</sup>	236	197	83	75	38
Tygerberg <sup>1</sup>	346	329	95	131	40
Total	4852	4408	91	1956	44

Note - The percentage in each cell was calculated using the numerator from that cell and the corresponding denominator from the cell to the left; \*Regular monitoring and feedback at sites can lead to increased report form completion rates by identifying common errors and areas for improvement, which helps motivate staff to maintain high standards. Patient interviews still low at certain sites due to delayed notifations therefore patients discharged/ demised before alert . Kimberley, shared post with NMC therefore most CRFs completed by medical reviews (which are a challenge to access); \*\*Target = 90%; \*\*\*Target = 70%. <sup>1</sup>Sites doing *E. coli* surveillance

#### Enhanced surveillance site quality monitoring

In 2023, as per annual performance management and improving quality of data collection, SOs were audited in terms of quality of work. CRFs from a specific time period were randomly selected for each SO to allow auditing of CRFs for each organism on an individual basis. The medical record files were drawn, and the GERMS-SA co-ordinating staff filled in a modified clean CRF from the original source data and compared their CRF with the original SO CRF. A scoring system was set up, and although the scores varied widely amongst SOs, many of the errors were ones of omission and overlooking information rather than entry of incorrect data. Data training was done regularly to overcome these errors.

### **SURVEILLANCE REPORTS**

#### Enhanced surveillance site project

In 2023, 4322 surveillance case patients were diagnosed at enhanced surveillance sites (Table 3). Of case patients with recorded HIV status, 44% (1544/3547) were HIV-infected (Table 4). The proportion of case patients with confirmed HIV

infection varied by surveillance disease. Unsurprisingly, a very high proportion of patients with AIDS-defining infections like cryptococcosis (96%) were HIV-infected. HIV infection amongst patients with invasive pneumococcal disease, for which HIV is a known risk factor, was 53%.

### Table 4. Numbers and percentage\* of patients diagnosed with laboratory-confirmed invasive disease at GERMS-SA enhanced surveillance sites, with confirmed HIV-1 infection \*\*, South Africa, 2023

Pathogen	Case patients, n	Case patients with completed case report forms, n (%)*		Case patients HIV statu	with known s, n (%)	Case patients with confirmed HIV infection, n (%)**		
Cryptococcus species	861	782	91	749	96	716	96	
Escherichia coli	1609	1567	97	1254	80	304	24	
Neisseria meningitidis	24	18	75	18	100	5	28	
Streptococcus pneumoniae^	717	648	90	629	97	334	53	
Haemophilus influenzae^	142	126	89	115	91	30	26	
Streptococcus pyogenes	481	422	88	396	94	110	28	
Streptococcus agalactiae^	488	408	84	386	95	45	12	
Total	4322	3971	92	3547	89	1544	44	

\*The percentage in each cell was calculated using the numerator from that cell and the corresponding denominator from the cell to the left. \*\*HIV infection was confirmed by an age-appropriate, laboratory test and recorded by surveillance officers at enhanced surveillance sites. ^6 co-infections counted separately under each pathogen: 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae and Streptococcus pyogenes mixed episode, and 5 Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae mixed episodes

#### Cryptococcus species

#### Results

During 2023, 4601 episodes of laboratory-confirmed cryptococcal disease were reported. This included 4278 first episodes (among 4278 patients) and 323 recurrent episodes (among 158 patients) (Table 5). By comparison, 4743 episodes were detected in 2022, of which 4410 were incident and 333 were recurrent (among 248 patients). We excluded cases of cryptococcal antigenaemia (i.e., positive blood cryptococcal antigen test without concurrent meningitis, fungaemia, or culture-positive disease elsewhere) from these analyses.

A majority (n=4055, 95%) of the incident cases were diagnosed as cryptococcal meningitis (laboratory tests on cerebrospinal fluid positive for *Cryptococcus* species), 3% (n=148) as fungaemia (*Cryptococcus* species cultured from blood), and 2% (n=75) as culture-positive disease at other sites (Table 6). The national incidence risk of laboratory-confirmed cryptococcosis remained stable with 57 (95% CI 55-58) and 55 (95% CI 53-56) cases per 100 000 people living with HIV in 2022 and 2023, respectively (Table 7). Over these 2 years, incidence risks with overlapping 95% confidence intervals were noted in all provinces. Males accounted for 62% (2590/4207) of the cases, and the highest incidence risk was recorded among males aged 40-44 years. The peak incidence among females, though lower than for males, was among those aged 30-34 years, 35-39 years, and 40-44 years (Figure 1). Age was known for 3869 (90%) case patients; the median age was 38 years (interquartile range [IQR], 32-45 years), and children younger than 15 years accounted for 3% of cases (n=115).

There were 861 case patients with a first episode reported at ESS during 2023, and case report forms were completed for 91% (n=782). Among 749 patients with known HIV status, 96% (n=716) were HIV-seropositive. Nearly two-thirds of HIVseropositive patients (56% [368/652]) had previously received antiretroviral therapy (ART) or were on antiretroviral treatment at the time of their cryptococcal disease diagnosis. The median CD4 cell count recorded close to the time of cryptococcal disease was 34 cells/µl (IQR, 13-73 cells/µl); 92% (584/631) had a CD4 cell count <200 cells/µl. Viral load test results were available for 511 patients; 24% (n=122) had a viral load of <400 copies/mL, 12% (n=61) had viral loads of 400-10 000 copies/mL, and 64% (n=328) had viral loads of >10 000 cop-ies/mL. Most of the case patients received antifungal therapy in-hospital (86%, 629/730); 61% (370/610) received a flucytosine-containing induction regimen. The in-hospital case-fatality ratio for patients at ESS with a first episode of cryptococcal disease was 38% (277/723). The in-hospital mortality was higher among individuals who did not receive a flucytosine-containing induction regimen (43% [99/232] compared to those who did (30% [112/378]).

### Table 5: Number of incident and recurrent episodes of cryptococcal meningitis or culture-positive cryptococcal disease detected by GERMS-SA, South Africa, 2022-2023, n=9344

Year	Cases (incident episodes)	Cases with recurrent episodes	Total recurrent episodes*	Total episodes
2022	4410	248	333	4743
2023	4278	158	323	4601
Total	8688	406	656	9344

\*Some cases had more than one recurrent episode.

### Table 6: Number and percentage of cases of cryptococcal meningitis or culture-positive cryptococcal disease detected by GERMS-SA by specimen type, South Africa, 2022-2023, n=8688

Site of enorimon	202	2	2023		
Site of specimen					
Cerebrospinal fluid	4308	98	4055	95	
Blood	82	2	148	3	
Other	20	0.5	75	2	
Total	4410		4278		

\*These case numbers exclude 2 285 patients (1 300 in 2022 & 985 in 2023) who tested positive for cryptococcal antigenaemia at NHLS microbiology labs.

### Table 7: Number of cases and incidence of cryptococcal meningitis or culture-positive cryptococcal disease detected by GERMS-SA by province, South Africa, 2022-2023, n=8688

Dravinas		2022	2023			
Province	n	Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*		
Eastern Cape	700	80 (74-86)	720	82 (76-88)		
Free State	167	39 (33-45)	135	32 (26-37)		
Gauteng	998	53 (50-56)	918	48 (45-51)		
KwaZulu-Natal	1050	53 (50-56)	976	49 (46-52)		
Limpopo	358	51 (46-56)	306	43 (38-48)		
Mpumalanga	282	37 (33-42)	310	41 (37-46)		
Northern Cape	51	49 (35-62)	54	51 (37-65)		
North West	280	52 (46-58)	312	58 (51-64)		
Western Cape	524	101 (93-110)	547	103 (95-112)		
South Africa	4410	57 (55-58)	4278	55 (53-56)		

\*These case numbers exclude patients who tested positive for cryptococcal antigenaemia.

+Incidence risk was calculated using mid-year population denominators determined by the Thembisa model and is expressed as cases per 100 000 HIV-infected persons (refer to Table 1).



Figure 1. Number of cases and incidence of cryptococcal meningitis or culture-positive cryptococcal disease detected by GERMS-SA , by sex and age group, South Africa, 2022, n= 3869

#### Discussion

In 2023, the total number of episodes of cryptococcal meningitis and culture-confirmed cryptococcal disease, including recurrent disease, remained relatively stable in comparison to the previous year. Consequently, the healthcare system continues to have considerable burden, with a substantial number of patients requiring hospital admission on an annual basis for the management of cryptococcosis. The in-hospital mortality rate for patients at GERMS-SA ESS remained high in 2023, particularly among those who did not receive flucytosine-based induction therapy. Despite the recommendation of a one-week course of flucytosine and amphotericin B deoxycholate, followed by a week of high-dose fluconazole by the South African treatment guidelines, at least a third of patients did not receive flucytosinecontaining regimens. Given the crucial role of flucytosine in reducing mortality, enhancing access to and promoting its use is of paramount importance.

#### E. coli

#### Results

There were 1609 cases of invasive Escherichia coli (as detected by a diagnostic laboratory) reported to GERMS-SA from April through to September 2023. During the six-month period, the majority of the cases were from the Gauteng province (58.4%; 940/1609), followed by KwaZulu-Natal province (19.8%; 319/1609) (Figure 2). Similar distributions were seen among males (50.2%; 808/1609) and females (49.4%; 796/1609). The median age of cases was 18 years (IQR: 18 years - 35 years), and 17.0% (273/1609) of cases were aged 31-40 years (Figure 3). Approximately 52.8% (849/1609) of cases had E. coli isolated from blood culture, followed by 17.3% (278/1609) from fluid aspirate (Figure 4). Infection origin was known for 90.9% (1463/1609) of cases. Community-origin infections accounted for 56.8% (831/1463) and 43.2% (632/1463) for hospital-acquired infections. Differences were observed for antimicrobial susceptibility patterns (obtained from the surveillance data warehouse at the NICD). Escherichia coli isolates of community origin were more susceptible to clinically relevant antimicrobial agents compared to isolates of hospital origin. For the  $\beta$ -lactams+ $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors, 72.8% and 89.8% of the isolates tested from communityacquired isolates were susceptible to amoxicillin-clavulanic acid and piperacillin-tazobactam compared to 61.8% and 78.1% from the hospital-acquired isolates, respectively. For the fluoroquinolone ciprofloxacin, 71.4% of community-acquired isolates were susceptible, compared to 61.8% of the hospital-

#### Erratum for Cryptococcus species 2022 report:

After the publication of the 2022 annual report, an error was discovered in the reported number and proportion of patients receiving antiretroviral therapy.

The published statement was: "The majority of HIV-seropositive patients (90% [820/915]) had previously received antiretroviral therapy (ART) or were undergoing antiretroviral treatment at the time of their cryptococcal disease diagnosis."

The correct statement is: "A majority of HIV-seropositive patients (60% [497/828]) had previously received an-tiretroviral therapy (ART) or were on antiretroviral treatment at the time of their cryptococcal disease diagnosis."

acquired isolates. For the third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins, 74.4%, 77.1%, and 79.3% of communityorigin isolates were susceptible to cefotaxime/ceftriaxone, ceftazidime, and cefepime compared to 66.6%, 70.0%, and 72.9% of hospital-acquired isolates, respectively. For the carbapenem, ertapenem, 96.8% of community-acquired isolates were susceptible compared to 92.4% of hospitalacquired isolates (Figure 5). Known HIV status was available for 80% (1254/1567) of cases, of which 24.2% (304/1254) were HIVpositive (Table 4). Known 30-day clinical outcome was available for 88.8% (1393/1567) of cases, of which 26.8% (373/1393) died. Of the total number of cases, 48.6% (782/1609) of isolates were submitted to the NICD, of which 97.5% (763/782) were viable. Molecular testing was performed on a proportion of viable isolates based on complete case report forms, known 30-day clinical outcome, and antimicrobial susceptibility profiles to third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins and carbapenems. Of the selected 171 isolates resistant to cefotaxime/ceftriaxone, 28 isolates were PCR-positive for the tested ESBL genes, and 12.2% (21/171) were positive for TEM (Figure 6). Of the selected 41 isolates resistant to both cefotaxime/ceftriaxone and ertapenem, 38 isolates were PCR-positive for the tested CPE genes. Of the 38 isolates, 82.9% (3/41) were positive for OXA-48 and variants, and 9.7% (4/41) were positive for NDM (Figure 7).













2023, n= 1463





Figure 7. Distribution of carbapenemase genes in a proportion of invasive *Escherichia coli* isolates resistant to cefotaxime/ceftriaxone and ertapenem, April to September 2023, n= 41

#### Discussion

Most of the *E. coli* cases were detected in Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal provinces. More than half of the cases were isolated from the bloodstream. Furthermore, more than one-third of the cases were hospital-acquired, and their corresponding isolates had lower susceptibility to clinically relevant antibiotics, particularly third/fourth generation cephalosporins and fluoroquinolones. Carbapenem susceptibility remains relatively stable but should be monitored, particularly for carbapenemase-producing *E. coli* mediated by 0XA-48.

#### Neisseria meningitidis

#### Results

In 2023, 107 laboratory-confirmed episodes of invasive meningococcal disease (IMD) were reported through the GERMS-SA surveillance programme, a 53% increase in episodes from 2022 (n=70). Forty-two viable isolates were sent to the NICD for further characterisation; 58 episodes were diagnosed through molecular methods only, and seven episodes were detected through an audit of the NHLS laboratory information system (Table 2). Incidence of IMD increased from 0.12 per 100 000 persons in 2022 to 0.18 per 100 000 in 2023 and was almost at levels experienced in 2019 (pre-COVID-19 pandemic) (Figure 8). The Western Cape Province continued to experience a higher incidence of IMD than other provinces (0.61 per 100 000) (Table 8). IMD occurred in persons of all age categories with the highest peak in children <1 year of age (1.6 episodes per 100 000) and then decreasing with increasing age-categories (Figure 9). No clusters were reported in 2023, and most episodes occurred between June and September (Figure 10), with more males (64/107, 60%) affected than females. Sixty-eight per cent (73/107) of IMD episodes were confirmed from cerebrospinal fluid and the rest from blood specimens (Table 9). Where serogrouping was done (83/107, 76%), 53% (44/83) were serogroup B, 18% (15/83) W, 13% (11/83) Y, 12% (10/83) C, and 3 were non-groupable (Table 10). Serogroup B was dominant in almost all age categories, whilst serogroup C occurred only in persons <5 years and 45–64 years, and serogroup Y occurred mostly in persons >10 yet <45 years of age (Figure 11). Of viable isolates, 50% (21/42) were susceptible to penicillin, 38% (16/42) had intermediate susceptibility (penicillin minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) between 0.094 and 0.25µg/ml), and 12% (5/42) were penicillin resistant (MIC 0.38µg/ml). Three of the five penicillin-resistant isolates were serogroup W and occurred in three different provinces. All viable isolates were susceptible to third-generation cephalosporins, ciprofloxacin, rifampicin, and nalidixic acid.

In 2023, 75% (18/24) of episodes at enhanced surveillance sites had clinical data collected (Table 4). Median age was 17 years (interquartile range (IQR) 2-35 years) and patients stayed a median of eight days (IQR 7-13 days) in hospital. Eighty-nine per cent (16/18) were admitted with meningitis, and the inhospital case-fatality was 11% (2/18). Twenty-eight per cent (5/18) were persons living with HIV (Table 4). Four persons, all less than 15 years of age, were discharged with sequelae (4/16, 25%). Two children had two sequelae each (neurological fallout with either hydrocephalus or new onset seizures), of the other two, one had new onset seizures and the other neurological fallout.



Figure 8. Incidence of invasive meningococcal disease by serogroup, South Africa, 2018-2023 (N=495)

### Table 8. Number of cases and incidence of meningococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by province, South Africa, 2019-2023, N=371 (including audit cases)

Site of specimen	2019		2020		20	021	2	022	2023		
	n	Incidence		Incidence		Incidence		Incidence		Incidence	
Eastern Cape	12	0.18	6	0.09	5	0.07	5	0.07	12	0.19	
Free State	3	0.10	0	0.00	0	0.00	3	0.10	4	0.14	
Gauteng	37	0.24	10	0.06	8	0.05	23	0.14	32	0.20	
KwaZulu-Natal	13	0.12	4	0.03	3	0.03	6	0.05	9	0.08	
Limpopo	2	0.03	1	0.02	0	0.00	3	0.05	2	0.03	
Mpumalanga	1	0.02	1	0.02	1	0.02	2	0.04	0	0.00	
Northern Cape	1	0.08	0	0.00	0	0.00	1	0.08	3	0.27	
North West	4	0.10	1	0.02	1	0.02	2	0.05	2	0.05	
Western Cape	38	0.56	27	0.39	15	0.20	25	0.35	43	0.61	
South Africa	111	0.19	50	0.08	33	0.05	70	0.12	107	0.18	

\*Incidence were calculated based on population denominators provided by the Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.





South Africa, 2019-2023 (N=371)

Table 9. Number and percentage of cases of meningococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by specimen type, South Africa, 2019-2023, N=371

Site of specimen	2019		2020		2021		2022		2023	
	n	%	n	%		%	n	%		
Cerebrospinal fluid	70	63	24	48	20	61	45	64	73	68
Blood	41	37	26	52	13	39	25	36	34	32
Other	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	111		50		33		70		107	

Table 10. Number of cases of invasive meningococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by serogroup and province, South Africa, 2023, N=107\*

	Serogroup										
Province	Serogroup not available	А	В	с	w	Y	NG	Total			
Eastern Cape	2	0	6	1	2	1	0	12			
Free State	0	0	1	2	1	0	0	4			
Gauteng	11	0	12	3	3	3	0	32			
KwaZulu-Natal	1	0	5	0	1	0	2	9			
Limpopo	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	2			
Mpumalanga	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
Northern Cape	2	0	0	0	0	1	0	3			
North West	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	2			
Western Cape	8	0	19	4	5	6	1	43			
South Africa	24	0	44	10	15	11	3	107			

\*83 (76%) with viable isolates or specimens available for serogrouping/genogrouping; NG: Non-groupable unencapsulated meningococcal isolates



n=5).

#### Discussion

IMD incidence in 2023 has continued to increase since 2021 and has almost returned to that of 2019 (pre-COVID-19 pandemic, where after many respiratory transmitted infections decreased as a result of various COVID-19 containment measures). Serogroup B continued to dominate, particularly among infants, where IMD incidence was highest. Half of the isolates tested were penicillin non-susceptible, and this trend needs to be monitored. However, all were fully susceptible to antibiotics used for empiric antibiotic treatment of meningitis and for chemoprophylaxis in close contacts of cases.

In 2023, one in ten persons with IMD died, and a quarter of those who survived were discharged with sequelae. Although infants are at the highest risk of IMD, the median age of patients presenting to ESS has increased, indicating an increase in disease in young adults. Clinicians are urged to consider the diagnosis in any persons presenting with fever and/or headache with rapid clinical deterioration. On suspicion of IMD, immediate initiation of third-generation cephalosporin or high-dose intravenous penicillin is still recommended.

#### Haemophilus influenzae

#### Results

In 2023, 301 episodes of invasive *Haemophilus influenzae* (HI) disease were identified through the GERMS-SA surveillance programme. Of these, 148 viable isolates were received by the NICD for further characterisation, 53 episodes were diagnosed through molecular methods only, and 100 (33%) episodes were detected through an audit of the NHLS laboratory information system (Table 2). Eight persons were co-infected with *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: two cultured from cerebrospinal fluid, five from blood specimens, and one from pleural fluid. In South Africa, incidence of invasive HI was 0.50 per 100 000 population (similar to 2022, 0.58 per 100 000). Incidence was highest in the Western Cape Province (1.66 per 100 000 population) and lowest in the North West Province (0.10 per 100 000) (Table 11, Figure 12). Infants had the highest incidence of HI disease (7.59

episodes per 100 000 population), dropping lowest in children 10–14 years (0.09 per 100 000), before gradually increasing with increasing age (Figure 13). Sixty per cent (180/301) of episodes had a known serotype (Table 11). The majority of invasive HI disease was caused by non-typeable (HNT, 103/180), followed by type B (Hib, 44/180). Serotypes A, C, E, and F were also detected in 11, 2, 6, and 14 episodes, respectively. Incidence of HNT disease was highest in all age groups, besides children 1–4 years, where Hib was more common (Figures 14 and 15). For all HI serotypes, invasive HI was detected most commonly from blood specimens (64%, 194/301) (Table 12). Twenty per cent (30/148) of HI cases were non-susceptible to ampicillin (MICs >1mg/L); this included 32% (12/38) of Hib, 16% (13/80) of HNT, and 17% (5/30) of serotype A and C-F episodes.

At enhanced surveillance sites, 89% (126/142) of HI episodes had clinical information collected (Table 4). Median admission time was 7 days (interquartile range (IQR) 1-16 days). Thirty per cent (38/126) of patients died in-hospital, with a median time to death of one day (IQR 0-6 days) from specimen collection date. Deaths occurred with all serotypes and in all age categories; however, case fatality was highest at the extremes of age (33% (16/49) among children <5 years of age and 89% (8/9) among those >64 years). Of those tested for HIV, 26% (30/115) were living with HIV. (Table 4) Other conditions predisposing to HI disease were reported in 64% of (81/126) patients; the most common conditions included prematurity (born <37 weeks gestation) in infants (69%, 18/26), ever having tuberculosis (10%, 13/126), malignancy (7%, 9/126), chronic lung disease (6%, 8/126), and chronic renal disease (3%, 4/126).

Of patients from ESS with meningitis, 45% (9/20) died and 18% (2/11) who were discharged from hospital suffered long-term sequelae. Both patients who survived suffered new-onset seizures, and in addition, one of these developed hydrocephalus, and the other patient had limb weakness.

Among 9 children aged <15 years admitted to ESS with Hib infection, Hib conjugate vaccination history was available for seven. Of the five babies aged <8 weeks, three had not received any Hib vaccine, and two had received a dose less than a week before becoming ill. The other two children had each received three doses of the Hib vaccine but were not yet eligible for the 18-month booster dose. All seven were HIV-uninfected, and six reported underlying risk factors for HI disease, including three who were born prematurely (<37 weeks gestation), two who had been diagnosed with tuberculosis, and one with an underlying head injury.



	Serotype										
Province	Serotype not available	A	В	с	D	E	F	Total	Non- typeable	Total	Incidence per 100 000 population†
Eastern Cape	6	2	5	0	0	1	1	12	7	22	0.34
Free State	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	3	7	0.24
Gauteng	38	2	10	1	0	1	4	32	33	89	0.55
KwaZulu-Natal	19	2	5	0	0	2	2	9	8	38	0.33
Limpopo	7	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	3	11	0.18
Mpumalanga	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	6	0.12
Northern Cape	3	0	1	0	0	0	0	3	2	6	0.54
North West	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	4	0.10
Western Cape	36	5	22	1	0	2	7	43	45	118	1.66
South Africa	121	11	44	2	0	6	14	107	103	301	0.50

Table 11. Number of cases and incidence of invasive *Haemophilus influenzae* disease reported to GERMS-SA by serotype and province, South Africa, 2023, N=301\*

\*180 (60%) with specimens or viable isolates available for serotyping.

+Incidence were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.







\*Incidence rates were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.



\*Incidence rates were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.

### Table 12. Number and percentage of cases of invasive *Haemophilus influenzae* disease reported to GERMS-SA by specimen type, South Africa, 2023, N=301

Site of specimen	No serotype available		Serotype b		Serot a, c, c	types d, e, f	Non-typeable		
		%	n	%	n	%		%	
Cerebrospinal fluid	27	22	17	39	5	15	5	5	
Blood	62	51	26	59	25	76	81	79	
Other	32	26	1	2	3	9	17	16	
Total	121		44		33		103		

#### Discussion

HI incidence has remained similar to that of 2022, with HNT disease dominating in most age categories. The Western Cape Province continues to report a higher incidence of HI disease than all other provinces, partly due to higher capacity for processing invasive specimens, which may possibly lead to higher specimen-taking practices amongst clinicians. We also noted an increase in ampicillin non-susceptible isolates from

all serotypes, which will need to be monitored closely in 2024. In-hospital case fatality following HI infection was highest at the extremes of age, and the extremely high case fatality in the elderly is concerning. The children with Hib disease who had a vaccination history available were all appropriately vaccinated for their age.

#### Streptococcus pneumoniae

#### Results

In 2023, 1807 episodes of laboratory-confirmed invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) were reported to the GERMS-SA surveillance programme. This included 1141 viable isolates (63%) sent to the NICD for further characterisation, 211 (12%) episodes identified through molecular testing, and 455 (25%) detected through the NHLS laboratory information system (Table 2). Incidence of IPD in South Africa for 2023 was 3.02 per 100 000 population, similar to that of 2022 (3.14 per 100 000), yet remaining lower than 2019 (4.07 per 100 000) prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Incidence in the Western Cape Province (8.76 per 100 000) was almost 3 times higher than the national incidence, whilst in other provinces IPD incidence ranged between 0.83-3.65 per 100 000 (Table 13). Incidence was highest in infants (14.90 per 100 000), with a second peak in adults 45–64 years (4.43 per 100 000) (Figure 16). Where gender was known, 52% (882/1703) of IPD episodes occurred in males. Most episodes were diagnosed from blood (1149/1807, 64%) and cerebrospinal fluid (514/1807, 28%) specimens (Table 14). Penicillin non-susceptibility (minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) >0.06µg/ml) was demonstrated in 34% (381/1128) of cultured isolates, and children 1-4 years had the highest proportion of non-susceptible isolates (32/55, 58%) (Table 15 and Figure 17). Ceftriaxone non-susceptibility (MIC >0.5µg/ml) was detected amongst 9% (96/1128) of isolates. The top three serotypes (in order) occurring in children <5 years included serotypes 8, 3, and 19F, while in persons >5 years, serotypes 3, 8, and 4 dominated (Figures 18a and 18b). Overall, potential coverage of serotypes in the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13) was 32% (425/1332) and 59% (781/1332) for the 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine (Figure 19 and Table 16).

At enhanced surveillance sites, 90% (648/717) of persons with IPD had clinical data collected. Patients were admitted for a median of 7 days (interquartile range [IQR] 1–13 days). Inhospital case fatality rate was 33% (211/646), increasing from 21% (10/48) in infants to 55% (29/53) in persons >64 years. Most deaths occurred within one day of specimen collection (IQR 0–5 days).

Of those tested for HIV, 53% (334/629) were HIV-infected. Thirty-four per cent (13/38) of infants with maternal HIV-status available were HIV-exposed (one baby was HIV-infected, 11 were HIV-uninfected, and HIV-status was unknown for one baby). Fifty-nine per cent (382/647) of patients had a condition/ risk factor (excluding HIV infection) predisposing them to IPD. The top five factors included: ever having tuberculosis (16%, 103/647), diabetes (7%, 45/647), chronic lung disease (6%, 40/647), chronic renal disease, or chronic heart disease (4%, 28/647, each). Among infants, 33% (6/18) were premature, and among persons >15 years, 37% (123/331) were current smokers, and 16% (54/331) reported excessive alcohol use.

Of 135 persons at ESS with pneumococcus detected in CSF, 41% (55/135) died during their hospitalisation, and 23% (18/80) who survived to discharge suffered at least one sequela upon discharge (two persons had >1 sequelae). Sequelae included new-onset seizures (nine), limb weakness/paralysis (seven), hearing loss (three), and vision loss (one).

Of 109 children <10 years of age with IPD at ESS, 74% (81/109) had non-PCV13 serotype disease, and 26% (28/109) had IPD caused by serotypes present in PCV13, including nine serotypes 19F, seven serotypes 19A, six serotypes 3, and one each for serotypes 4, 6A, 7F, 9V, 14, and 23F. Vaccination history was available for 19 of 28 children with PCV13 serotype disease: two children (aged five and nine months) had never received any PCV13 doses, four were too young to have received the 6-week dose, four had received appropriate doses for age, one had missed their booster dose, and eight had received all three doses. The serotypes responsible for disease in children who had been fully vaccinated included serotypes 19F (four children), 19A (three children) and 23F (one child), and 63% (5/8) had an underlying risk factor predisposing to IPD.

	2019		2020		2021		2	022	2023	
Site of specimen		Incidence rate*	n	Incidence rate*	n	Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*	n	Incidence rate*
Eastern Cape	274	4.23	136	2.10	201	3.10	224	3.46	236	3.65
Free State	83	2.90	62	2.16	70	2.43	62	2.16	62	2.16
Gauteng	774	5.08	377	2.42	466	2.98	515	3.25	540	3.35
KwaZulu-Natal	237	2.14	101	0.90	116	1.03	158	1.40	158	1.39
Limpopo	96	1.65	52	0.88	45	0.76	69	1.15	67	1.11
Mpumalanga	102	2.20	41	0.87	56	1.18	53	1.11	40	0.83
Northern Cape	89	8.02	26	2.33	25	2.23	27	2.42	26	2.32
North West	66	1.67	36	0.90	32	0.79	48	1.18	57	1.38
Western Cape	631	9.34	417	6.07	539	7.80	704	10.08	621	8.76
South Africa	2352	4.07	1249	2.14	1550	2.64	1860	3.14	1807	3.02

Table 13. Number of	cases and incident	e of invasive	e pneumococcal	disease rep	orted to GE	RMS-SA by	province, S	outh A	frica,
2019-2023, N=8818	(including audit ca	ses)							

\*Incidence was calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.



### Figure 16. Age-specific incidence\* for laboratory-confirmed, invasive pneumococcal disease, reported to GERMS-SA, South Africa, 2018-2023, N=11 131

\*Incidence were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.

### Table 14. Number and percentage of cases of invasive pneumococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by specimen type, South Africa, 2019-2023, N=8818

Site of specimen	2019		2020		2021		2022		2023	
site of specimen	n	%	n	%	n			%	n	%
Cerebrospinal fluid	701	30	340	27	385	25	425	23	514	28
Blood	1484	63	813	65	1068	69	1312	71	1149	64
Other	167	7	96	8	97	6	123	7	144	8
Total	2352		1249		1550		1860		1807	

Table 15. Number and percentage of penicillin susceptible and	non-susceptible isolates from invasive pneumococcal disease
cases reported to GERMS-SA by province, South Africa, 2023, Na	=1807

Ducuinas	Isolate not available	Susce	otible*	Resistant*		
Province	n	n	%	n		
Eastern Cape	95	90	64	51	36	
Free State	29	25	76	8	24	
Gauteng	250	180	62	110	38	
KwaZulu-Natal	93	41	63	24	37	
Limpopo	24	29	67	14	33	
Mpumalanga	19	14	67	7	33	
Northern Cape	15	7	64	4	36	
North West	40	13	76	4	24	
Western Cape	114	348	69	159	31	
South Africa	679	747	66	381	34	

\*2023 CLSI breakpoints for penicillin (oral penicillin V) were used: susceptible, ≤0.06mg/L; resistant, ≥0.12mg/L.



Figure 17. Number of laboratory-confirmed, invasive pneumococcal disease cases, reported to GERMS-SA, by age group and penicillin susceptibility, South Africa, 2023, N=1807 (n=1128 with viable isolates).

2023 CLSI breakpoints for penicillin (oral penicillin V) were used: susceptible,MIC <0.06mg/L; non-susceptible >0.06mg/L



(2018: N=386, n=144 without serotype determined; 2019: N=361, n=114 without serotype; 2020: N=224, n=59 without serotype; 2021: N=263, n=78 without serotype; 2022: N=274, n=86 without serotype; 2023: N=263, n=94 without serotype).



### Figure 18b. Most common pneumoccocal serotypes causing laboratory-confirmed, invasive pneumococcal disease, reported to GERMS-SA, in adults and children >5 years, South Africa, 2018-2023 (N=9088).

Foot note: PCV7: seven-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PCV13add: additional serotypes in the thirteen-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; NVT: non-PCV13 serotypes



Table 16. Number and percentage of invasive pneumococcal cases reported by the serotypes contained in the 10-, 13- 15and 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine candidates and the 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine by age category, South Africa, 2023, N=1807 (n=1332 with isolates/specimens available for serotyping)

Age category (years)	SII Total isolates 10-valent available for serotypes		GSK 10-valent serotypes		Pfizer 13-valent serotypes		Merck 15-valent serotypes		Pfizer 20-valent serotypes		23-valent sero- types		
	serotyping												
<1	108	15	14	14	13	28	26	29	27	53	49	55	51
1-4	61	16	26	10	16	21	34	22	36	31	51	35	57
5-9	32	8	25	9	28	12	38	12	38	17	53	18	56
10-14	23	2	9	2	9	4	17	4	17	7	30	10	43
15-24	63	11	17	10	16	21	33	22	35	36	57	41	65
25-44	514	82	16	99	19	172	33	185	36	273	53	310	60
45-64	355	44	12	50	14	107	30	116	33	180	51	206	58
>64	126	22	17	19	15	47	37	54	43	73	58	80	63
unk	50	6	12	9	18	13	26	14	28	23	46	26	52
	1332	206	15	222	17	425	32	458	34	693	52	781	59

Serotypes included in each of the pneumococcal vaccine categories:

Serum Institute India 10-valent serotypes: 1, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 19A, 19F, 23F

GlaxoSmithKline 10-valent serotypes: 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F

Pfizer 13-valent serotypes: 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F, 3, 6A, 19A

\*Merck 15-valent serotypes: 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F, 3, 6A, 19A, 22F, 33F

\*Pfizer 20-valent serotypes: 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F, 3, 6A, 19A, 22F, 33F, 8, 10A, 11A, 12F, 15B

23-valent serotypes: 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F, 3, 19A, 22F, 33F, 8, 10A, 11A, 12F, 15B, 2, 9N, 17F, 20

\* Merck PCV15 and Pfizer PCV20 are not yet licenced for use in South Africa

#### Discussion

In 2023, IPD incidence was still below that of 2019, pre-COVID-19 pandemic. The Western Cape Province continues to show a higher incidence of IPD than other provinces. Although infants have the highest incidence, a second peak in adults aged 45–64 years reflects the ageing HIV-infected population and the high rate of other comorbidities in South Africa. Antimicrobial susceptibility remains similar to previous years. In-hospital casefatality remains high for all IPD, with most deaths occurring in the elderly and amongst those with meningitis. Almost a quarter of those who survived pneumococcal meningitis developed longterm sequelae. Serotypes 3 and 8 were the top disease-causing serotypes in both children and adults, with serotypes 19F, 19A, and 3 among the PCV13 serotypes causing the most disease in children. An increase in serotype 4 IPD amongst adults over the last three years has also been noted. In 2024, South Africa will change to a PCV10 formulation in the expanded programme for immunisation, which excludes serotypes 3, 4, and 18C from the current PCV13. Therefore, ongoing surveillance to monitor trends in serotype-specific IPD is extremely important.

### Group A Streptococcus (Streptococcus pyogenes)

#### Results

In 2023, 919 episodes of invasive group A Streptococcus (group A strep) were reported through the GERMS-SA surveillance programme, of which 512 (56%) were sent to the reference laboratory for further characterisation, 13 (1%) were detected through molecular testing, and 394 (43%) were detected through audit of the NHLS laboratory information system (Table 2). The case definition for invasive group A strep infection included individuals with group A strep isolated from a normally sterile site specimen or isolates from non-sterile site specimens with an accompanying diagnosis of septic shock, necrotising fasciitis or necrotic tissue. Overall incidence was 1.54 episodes per 100 000 persons, similar to 2019 (1.68 per 100 000), pre-COVID-19 pandemic. The Western Cape Province reported the

highest incidence of invasive group A strep (5.05 per 100 000), followed by the Gauteng (2.03 per 100 000) and Eastern Cape (1.16 per 100 000) Provinces (Table 17). Incidence was highest in infants (5.96 per 100 000), dropping to a low of 0.27 per 100 000 in 10-14 year-olds and then increasing with increasing age to another peak in persons >64 years (2.55 per 100 000 population) (Figure 20). Where sex was known, infections occurred more often in males (63%, 568/906) than females. At enhanced surveillance sites, 88% (422/481) of persons with invasive group A strep had clinical data collected (Table 4). Most specimens were taken within one day of hospital admission (median 1 day, interquartile range [IQR] 0–3 days from admission date), and persons spent a median of 8 days in hospital (IQR 3–17 days). In-hospital mortality was 20% (85/418), with most deaths occurring on the day of admission (IQR 0-6 days). The most common conditions associated with invasive group A strep infections included having an infected wound (27%, 113/422), necrotising fasciitis (16%, 69/422), osteomyelitis (14%, 57/422), cellulitis (11%, 46/422), septic arthritis (10%, 42/422), and streptococcus toxic shock syndrome (3%, 11/422). Common risk factors for developing group A strep included having had a penetrating wound following trauma (16%, 67/422), surgery in the past two weeks (8%, 35/422), burns (8%, 35/422), or blunt trauma (6%, 26/422). Of those with known HIV status, 28% (110/396) were persons living with HIV. From all age categories, most episodes were diagnosed from blood cultures (65%, 600/919); however, persons aged >5 years had a more diverse range of specimen types than children <5 years (Figure 21, Table 18). All isolates tested (512/512) were susceptible to penicillin (MIC<0.06µg/ml), and 95% (488/512) were susceptible to erythromycin (MIC<0.25µg/ml) (Table 19).

At enhanced surveillance sites, 88% (422/481) of persons with invasive group A strep had clinical data collected (Table 4). Most specimens were taken within one day of hospital admission (median 1 day, interquartile range [IQR] 0–3 days from admission date), and persons spent a median of 8 days in hospital (IQR 3-17 days). In-hospital mortality was 20% (85/418), with most deaths occurring on the day of admission (IQR 0-6 days). The most common conditions associated with invasive group A strep infections included having an infected wound (27%, 113/422), necrotising fasciitis (16%, 69/422), osteomyelitis (14%, 57/422), cellulitis (11%, 46/422), septic arthritis (10%, 42/422), and streptococcus toxic shock syndrome (3%, 11/422). Common risk factors for developing group A strep included having had a penetrating wound following trauma (16%, 67/422), surgery in the past two weeks (8%, 35/422), burns (8%, 35/422), or blunt trauma (6%, 26/422). Of those with known HIV status, 28% (110/396) were persons living with HIV.



	2019		2020		2021		2022		2023	
Province	n	Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*		Incidence rate*
Eastern Cape	143	2.21	71	1.10	151	2.33	120	1.85	75	1.16
Free State	22	0.77	11	0.38	21	0.73	35	1.22	26	0.90
Gauteng	200	1.31	95	0.61	175	1.12	262	1.65	327	2.03
KwaZulu-Natal	162	1.46	49	0.44	92	0.82	97	0.86	72	0.63
Limpopo	7	0.12	5	0.09	11	0.18	20	0.33	25	0.41
Mpumalanga	11	0.24	9	0.19	23	0.49	21	0.44	19	0.39
Northern Cape	7	0.63	7	0.63	3	0.27	2	0.18	6	0.54
North West	2	0.05	3	0.07	9	0.22	10	0.25	11	0.27
Western Cape	416	6.16	262	3.82	266	3.85	375	5.37	358	5.05
South Africa	970	1.68	512	0.88	751	1.28	942	1.59	919	1.54

\*Incidence was calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.



Figure 20. Incidence of invasive *Streptococcus pyogenes* (Group A Streptococcus) by age-category, South Africa, 2019-2023 (N=4094)



\*Incidence were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population.

### Table 18. Number and percentage of cases of invasive group A streptococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by specimen type and age category, South Africa, 2023, N=919 (age unknown for n=60)

	Age <5 years		Age >!	5 years	Age ur	ıknown	All ages	
Site of specimen		%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Cerebrospinal fluid/brain	5	4	13	2	4	7	22	2
Blood	104	81	455	62	41	68	600	65
Skin and soft tissue*	10	8	123	17	5	8	138	15
Bone	4	3	83	11	1	2	88	10
Other**	5	4	57	8	9	15	71	8
Total	128		731		60		919	

\*Skin and soft tissue includes skin swabs with an accompanying diagnosis of tissue necrosis, necrotising fasciitis or toxic shock syndrome. \*\*Other includes invasive specimens from respiratory, genitourinary and gastrointestinal tracts.

### Table 19. Number and percentage of penicillin and erythromycin susceptible and non-susceptible isolates from invasive group A streptococcal disease cases reported to GERMS-SA, South Africa, 2023, N=919 (isolate available for 512)

Site of specimen	lsolate not available	Susceptible*		Interm	ediate*	Resistant*		
	n	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Penicillin	407	512	100	0	0	0	0	
Erythromycin	407	488	95	1	0	23	5	

\*2023 CLSI breakpoints for penicillin (oral penicillin V) were used: susceptible, ≤0.06mg/L; intermediately resistant, 0.12-1mg/L; resistant, ≥2mg/L.

#### Discussion

For the majority of invasive group A strep infections, *Streptococcus pyogenes* likely originated from a breech to the skin through recent surgery or trauma. Infants and the elderly

were most affected. All isolates from all invasive specimen types were highly susceptible to first-line antimicrobial agents.

#### Group B Streptococcus (Streptococcus agalactiae)

#### Results

In 2023, 1003 laboratory-confirmed episodes of invasive group B streptococcus (group B strep) were reported through the GERMS-SA network; 420 (42%) viable isolates were sent to the NICD reference laboratory for further characterisation, 17 (2%) were identified through molecular testing, and 566 (56%) were detected through the NHLS laboratory information system (Table 2).

Nationally, incidence for invasive group B strep fluctuated through the COVID-19 pandemic years but has now stabilised at rates similar to those of 2019 for almost all age categories. (Figures 22a and 22b). In 2023, infants had the highest incidence (46.34 per 100 000 population), dropping to a low of 0.02 per 100 000 in 5–9 year olds and then increasing with increasing age to another peak in those >64 years (1.11 per 100 000 population) (Table 20 and Figure 22a). Incidence per 1000 live births in 2023 was 0.28 for early-onset (<7 days of life) and 0.16 for late-onset (7-90 days) invasive group B strep disease (Figure 22b). Incidence of laboratory-confirmed episodes varies by province, with the Gauteng, Western Cape, and KwaZulu-Natal Provinces reporting the highest rates (Table 20). In infants, most cases were isolated from blood (436/513, 85%) or cerebrospinal fluid (68/513, 13%) (Table 21 and Figure 23a). However, in persons >1 year of age, blood (193/426, 45%) and genitourinary tract specimens (133/426, 31%) (particularly from adults of reproductive age) were most frequent (Table 21, Figure 23b). Where sex was known amongst infants, 45% (220/487) of episodes occurred among females; however, amongst persons >1 year, 71% (299/423) occurred amongst females. Of serotyped isolates, serotypes III (141/420, 34%), Ia (136/420, 32%), and V (43/420, 10%) were most common for all presentations (earlyonset, late-onset, and disease in >1 year age group) and most provinces (Table 22, Figure 24a). Isolates from blood specimens

were mostly serotype Ia (110/321, 34%) or serotype III (101/321, 31%), while CSF isolates were mainly serotype III (27/41, 66%). Of the genitourinary isolates typed, serotypes Ia, Ib, and III were most common (Figure 24b). Almost all (417/420, 99%) invasive group B strep isolates tested were sensitive to penicillin (MIC<0.12mg/L), 68% (286/420) to erythromycin (MIC<0.5mg/L), and only 6% (24/420) to tetracycline (MIC<2mg/L).

In 2023, 84% (408/488) of group B strep episodes at enhanced surveillance sites had clinical data collected (Table 4). The median length of hospital stay was 5 days (IQR 1-15 days). Overall, 16% (57/364) of patients with outcome data died, 18% (26/143) of those <1 and 14% (31/221) >1 year of age. Most deaths occurred on day 2 of admission (IQR 1–9 days). Among 115 neonates with invasive group B strep, 17% (20/115) died. Underlying maternal risk factors for neonates developing invasive group B strep included 23% (26/115) with premature

invasive group B strep included 23% (26/115) with premature rupture of membranes prior to birth and 7% (8/115) with pre-eclampsia. Neonatal risk factors for developing invasive group B strep included 38% (44/115) born preterm (<37 weeks gestation), 10% (12/115) with very low birth weight (<1500g), and 14% (16/115) who required intubation.

Of a subset of 105 episodes of invasive group B strep with a diagnosis of intrauterine sepsis, one woman died. Eighty-nine per cent (93/105) of women with intrauterine sepsis were pregnant or postpartum at the time of the infection. Among these pregnant/postpartum women: 77% (72/93) of the pregnancies resulted in death of the neonate/foetus, 5% (5/93) had neonates with clinical group B strep infection, 1% (1/793) was still pregnant at discharge from hospital, and 16% (15/93) had neonates who appeared clinically well.





Figure 22b. Incidence of invasive Group B Streptococcus per 1000 live births by age category (<12 months) and year reported to GERMS-SA, South Africa, 2019-2022 (N=2417)

	Early ons	et (<7 days)	Late ons	et (7-90 days)	Age ca	tegory >1 year	All ages		
Province	n	Incidence (per 1 000 live births*)	n	Incidence (per 1 000 live births*)	n	Incidence (per 100 000 population)	n	Incidence (per 100 000 population)	
Eastern Cape	11	0.09	7	0.06	32	0.50	54	0.84	
Free State	15	0.28	6	0.11	16	0.57	39	1.36	
Gauteng	145	0.53	72	0.26	205	1.29	480	2.98	
KwaZulu-Natal	73	0.33	27	0.12	71	0.64	181	1.59	
Limpopo	11	0.08	8	0.06	7	0.12	29	0.48	
Mpumalanga	17	0.17	5	0.05	12	0.25	36	0.74	
Northern Cape	1	0.04	1	0.04	3	0.27	5	0.45	
North West	5	0.07	4	0.06	12	0.30	24	0.58	
Western Cape	36	0.29	42	0.34	68	0.98	155	2.19	
South Africa	314	0.28	172	0.16	426	0.73	1,003	1.67	

Table 20. Number of cases and incidence of invasive group B streptococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by province and age category\*, South Africa, 2023, N=1003 (age unknown for n=64)

\*N=27 episodes in infants aged >90 days and less than one year excluded from above. Denominators included mid-year population estimates from Thembisa Model.

### Table 21. Number and percentage of cases of invasive group B streptococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by specimen type and age category\*, South Africa, 2023, N=1003

	Ag	e <1 year	Age >1 years		
site of specimen			n		
Cerebrospinal fluid/brain	68	13	16	4	
Blood	436	85	193	45	
Skin and soft tissue	3	1	45	11	
Genitourinary**	4	1	133	31	
Other***	2	0	39	9	
Total	513		426		

\*Age unknown for n=64. Genitourinary specimens include uterine tissue, products of conception and placental tissue \*\*Other includes invasive specimens from bone, respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts.





Figure 23b: Age-specific incidence\* for laboratory-confirmed, invasive group B streptococcal disease in persons >1 year of age, reported to GERMS-SA, South Africa, 2023, N=426

\*Incidence were calculated based on population denominators provided by Thembisa Model, and are expressed as cases per 100 000 population. N=513 episodes in children<1 year and n=64 episodes with age unknown)

### Table 22. Serotype distribution of invasive group B streptococcal disease reported to GERMS-SA by province, South Africa, 2023, N=1003

Isolates	li	a	I	b	I	I	II	1	ľ	v	١	/	VI	II	D	<b>‹</b>		
Province	lotal	for sero- typing	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	
Eastern Cape	54	33	8	24	3	9	5	15	10	30	1	3	5	15	0	0	0	0
Free State	39	18	4	22	1	6	1	6	9	50	1	6	2	11	0	0	0	0
Gauteng	480	187	64	34	19	10	5	3	67	36	6	3	19	10	2	1	2	1
KwaZulu-Natal	181	45	17	38	5	11	10	22	7	16	1	2	5	11	0	0	0	0
Limpopo	29	11	1	9	1	9	1	9	5	45	1	9	1	9	0	0	1	9
Mpumalanga	36	12	3	25	1	8	4	33	4	33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern Cape	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
North West	24	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	50	0	0	1	50	0	0	0	0
Western Cape	155	112	39	35	6	5	13	12	38	34	2	2	10	9	0	0	0	0
South Africa	1,003	420	136	33	36	9	39	9	141	34	12	3	43	10	2	1	3	1

Of 1003 episodes, 420 had viable isolates and were serotyped, seven isolates were non-typeable (one from Eastern Cape, three from Gauteng and three from Western Cape Province).







#### Discussion

Neonates carry a large burden of invasive group B strep disease in South Africa. Smaller numbers of cases identified in some provinces may reflect lower rates of blood cultures performed, particularly amongst hospitalised neonates. Over threequarters of pregnancies in women with laboratory-confirmed intrauterine group B strep infection ended with death of the foetus/neonate. Adults and the elderly are also at risk of invasive group B strep disease. Most invasive disease was caused by serotypes I through V, which are similar to the serotypes contained in candidate vaccines undergoing phase III trials. Penicillin susceptibility is still high, supporting its use as first-line antimicrobial treatment of neonatal sepsis.

# Enteric fever (typhoid and paratyphoid fever): *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi and *Salmonella enterica* serovars Paratyphi A, Paratyphi B, and Paratyphi C

#### Results

A total of 155 cases of laboratory-confirmed enteric fever were identified through the enteric fever surveillance programme of the Centre for Enteric Diseases in 2023.

The cases include *Salmonella* Typhi isolated from all sample sites, of which 79% (123/155) were blood cultures. There were two cases of enteric fever caused by *Salmonella enterica* serovars Paratyphi A and Paratyphi B. En-teric fever cases were reported from all provinces (Table 23), but the majority (113/155, 73%) were reported from two provinces: Gauteng (80/155, 52%) and Western Cape 33/155 (21%). Most cases (127/155 (82%)) were identified in the public health sector (Table 23). The highest number of cases was reported in children aged 5–14 years (36/155, 23%), followed by children aged 0–4 years (27/155, 17%), then adults aged 25–34 years (26/155, 17%), and adolescents and young adults aged 15 to 24 years (25/155, 16%), as shown

in Table 24. A comparison of cases by month shows higher case numbers in January to May 2023, with another spike in August (Figure 25). A comparison of the distribution of *Salmonella* Typhi cases by month for 2021-2023 is shown in Figure 26.

Of the isolates received and tested at the centre, 98% (126/129) were susceptible to ciprofloxacin and 100% (129/129) were susceptible to azithromycin according to CLSI breakpoints (Table 25).

Forty-five (45/155; 29%) cases were reported from ESS, and 31/45 (69%) had additional information of variable completeness available (Table 26). Patients were aged between 0 and 57 years, with a median age of 13 years. HIV status was known for 21/31 (68%), of which 5/21 (24%) were HIV-infected. One (1/31; 3%) death was reported (Table 4).

Table 23. Number of cases of *Salmonella* Typhi and Paratyphi A and B by health sector and province, South Africa, 2023, n = 155 (including audit reports, missing isolates, mixed and contaminated cultures)

Province	Private sector	Public sector	Total
Eastern Cape	0	6	6
Free State	1	3	4
Gauteng	18	62	80
KwaZulu-Natal	0	14	14
Limpopo	0	2	2
Mpumalanga	1	5	6
Northern Cape	1	1	2
North West	2	6	8
Western Cape	5	28	33
South Africa	28	127	155

Table 24. Number of cases of *Salmonella* Typhi and Paratyphi A and B by health sector and age category, South Africa, 2023, n = 155 (including audit reports)

Age category (years)	Private sector	Public sector	Total
0 - 4	2	25	27
5 - 14	6	30	36
15 - 24	3	22	25
25 - 34	3	23	26
35 - 44	7	8	15
45 - 54	3	8	11
55 - 64	1	5	6
≥ 65	2	0	2
Unknown Age	1	6	7
Total	28	127	155







Table 25. Ciprofloxacin and azithromycin susceptibility\* of viable *Salmonella* Typhi isolates received and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases, South Africa, 2023, n = 129

Antimicrobial agent	Susceptible, n (%)	Non-susceptible, n (%)		
Ciprofloxacin	126 (98)	3 (2)		
Azithromycin	129 (100)	0 (0)		

\*According to CLSI breakpoints

Brovinco	Total casos	Cases rep	orted from ESS	Completed case reports		
Trovince	Total Cases	n	%	n	%	
Eastern Cape	6	0	0	0	0	
Free State	4	1	25	1	100	
Gauteng	80	17	21	12	71	
KwaZulu-Natal	14	6	43	2	33	
Limpopo	2	1	50	1	100	
Mpumalanga	б	2	33	2	100	
Northern Cape	2	1	50	0	0	
North West	8	3	38	3	100	
Western Cape	33	14	42	10	71	
South Africa	155	45	29	31	69	

Table 26: Number and percentage of cases of *Salmonella* Typhi and Paratyphi A and B reported from ESS by province, South Africa, 2023 (n = 45)

#### Discussion

Enteric fever caused by *Salmonella* Typhi remains endemic in South Africa. Following the outbreaks in 2005–2006, the number of culture-confirmed cases annually remained stable at <150 cases per year from 2006 through 2021. In 2021, the highest annual total number of cases since 2006 was reported (n=133). In 2022, this increased to a total of 204 cases, then decreased to 155 cases in 2023. Consistent with previous years, the highest number of cases was reported in the 5–14-year age group.

Although small, localised outbreaks of enteric fever were identified in 2023, most cases were sporadic. The majority of cases acquired Salmonella Typhi infection in South Africa; few cases were imported (travel-related), mostly from neighbouring countries. The increase in the number of cases observed in January and in August was mainly driven by cases reported from the Johannesburg Metro and West Rand District in Gauteng Province, respectively. Most of the cases were part of the Klerksdorp outbreak strain as defined by the genetic relatedness of isolates on core-genome multilocus sequence typing analysis of whole genome sequencing data. This strain has been circulating in the North West and Gauteng Provinces since 2021, with more cases being identified in Gauteng during 2023. In 2022, there was an increase in cases in June, driven by isolates that formed part of the Klerksdorp outbreak (Figure 26). Salmonella Typhi isolates from both invasive and non-invasive

sites were included in these analyses, as both added to the burden of infection in South Africa and represent a public health risk. The diagnosis of enteric fever remains challenging, and reported cases significantly under-represent the true number of cases. Heightened clinical awareness and appropriate laboratory tests are critical in identifying cases. Culture remains the gold standard for confirming enteric fever, so prevailing clinician testing behaviour heavily influences the likelihood of detecting cases. Greater numbers of cases reported from the Gauteng and the Western Cape Provinces could in part reflect healthcareseeking behaviour and prevailing clinician testing practices.

The proportion of isolates showing resistance to ciprofloxacin (2%) is significantly lower than recent years; however, resistance remains a concern. *Salmonella* Typhi isolates should routinely be tested against azithromycin, which is an alternative oral antibiotic option for treating disease caused by ciprofloxacin-resistant strains. Ceftriaxone may also be used as an alternative therapy but needs to be administered parenterally. Cases of enteric fever caused by *Salmonella enterica* serovars Paratyphi A, Paratyphi B, or Paratyphi C remain uncommon in South Africa, with only two cases reported in 2023, one Paratyphi B var Java from the Northern Cape and one Paratyphi A from the Western Cape.

#### Nontyphoidal Salmonella enterica (NTS)

#### Results

A total of 3162 cases of non-typhoidal salmonellosis, from all sample sites, were reported through the surveillance programme in 2023. Of these, 33% (1033/3162) were indicative of invasive disease (Table 27). Sixty-seven per cent of the total cases (2124/3162) were identified in the public health sector. There was a striking difference in the proportion of invasive cases in the public health sector (917/2124; 43%) versus those in the private health sec-tor (116/1038; 11%). This could be due in part to differences in health-seeking behaviour and diagnostic practices among clinicians in the respective health sectors.

The highest numbers of cases of invasive disease were reported from Gauteng (417/1033; 40%), followed by the Western Cape (237/1033; 23%) and KwaZulu-Natal (112/1033; 11%) Provinces (Table 27).

Gauteng also reported the highest number of cases of noninvasive disease (794/2129; 37%), followed by the Western Cape (381/2129; 18%) and KwaZulu-Natal (301/2129; 14%) Provinces. As in previous years, although seasonal prevalence was noted for non-invasive disease (lower numbers of cases identified in the winter months), no overt seasonal pattern was noted with invasive disease (Figure 27). Non-invasive disease was highest in children younger than five years (445/2129; 21%), followed by persons aged 35 to 44 years (317/2129; 15%) and persons aged  $\geq$ 65 years (259/2129; 12%), as shown in Table 28. Invasive disease was most common in persons aged 35 to 44 years (193/1033; 19%), followed by children younger than five years (187/1033; 18%) and persons aged 25 to 34 years (166/1033; 16%; Table 28). Most invasive cases were identified from blood cultures (922/1033; 89%; Table 29). A total of 2251 viable isolates were received and serotyped; this included isolates submitted as part of routine laboratorybased surveillance as well as isolates submitted for outbreak investigation purposes. A total of 74 serovars were identified, but two serovars accounted for 76% of the cases: Salmonella Enteritidis (1417/2251; 63%) and Salmonella Typhimurium (301/2251; 13%). The next most common serovars were Salmonella enterica subspecies salamae, Salmonella Isangi, Salmonella Muenchen, and monophasic Salmonella Typhimurium (Table 30). Proportions of common serovars differed among provinces, but Salmonella Enteritidis was the most common serovar in all provinces (Figure 28). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing was not routinely performed but was available upon request. Of the 782 isolates at the centre, 98% (768/782) were susceptible to ciprofloxacin, and 98% (768/782) were susceptible to azithromycin according to CLSI breakpoints (Table 31).

Table 27. Number of cases of invasive and non-invasive nontyphoidal salmonellosis by province, South Africa, 2023, n = 3162 (including audit reports)

Province	Non-invasive	Invasive	Total
Eastern Cape	240	103	343
Free State	130	42	172
Gauteng	794	417	1211
KwaZulu-Natal	301	112	413
Limpopo	64	33	97
Mpumalanga	98	40	138
Northern Cape	26	14	40
North West	95	35	130
Western Cape	381	237	618
South Africa	2129	1033	3162



South Africa, 2023

### Table 28. Number of cases of invasive and non-invasive nontyphoidal salmonellosis by age category, South Africa, 2023, n = 3162 (including audit reports)

Age category (years)	Non-Invasive	Invasive	Total
0 - 4	445	187	632
5 - 14	177	23	200
15 - 24	133	53	186
25 - 34	247	166	413
35 - 44	317	193	510
45 - 54	240	128	368
55 - 64	209	99	308
≥ 65	259	110	369
Unknown	102	74	176
Total	2129	1033	3162

### Table 29. Number of cases of nontyphoidal salmonellosis reported by primary anatomical site of isolation, South Africa, 2023, n = 3162 (including audit reports).

Specimen	n	%
Stool	1675	53
Blood culture	922	29
Urine	233	7
CSF	21	1
Bone marrow	2	0
Other*	309	10
Total	3162	100

\*Includes respiratory samples, abscess, catheter tips, superficial and deep swabs, tissue samples

#### Table 30. Six most common Salmonella enterica serovars by province, South Africa, 2023, N = 1899\*

Province	<i>Salmonella</i> Enteritidis	<i>Salmonella</i> Typhimurium	Salmonella salamae	Salmonella Isangi	<i>Salmonella</i> Muenchen	Typhimurium monophasic
Eastern Cape	127	55	6	20	3	9
Free State	75	24	7	0	5	3
Gauteng	607	71	30	13	5	7
KwaZulu-Natal	125	32	10	0	6	1
Limpopo	41	9	3	4	0	0
Mpumalanga	53	7	3	7	2	0
Northern Cape	13	8	1	0	0	0
North West	59	5	6	2	0	1
Western Cape	317	90	7	1	10	9
South Africa	1 417	301	73	47	31	30

\*Includes nontyphoidal Salmonella isolates from invasive and non-invasive cases



Table 31. Ciprofloxacin and azithromycin susceptibility\* of viable nontyphoidal *Salmonella* isolates received and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases, South Africa, 2023, n = 782

Antimicrobial agent	Susceptible, n (%)	Non-susceptible, n (%)
Ciprofloxacin	768 (98)	14 (2)
Azithromycin	769 (98)	13 (2)

\*According to CLSI breakpoints



#### Discussion

Non-typhoidal salmonellosis is usually foodborne and typically manifests as acute gastroenteritis. Invasive disease is usually associated with HIV infection or the presence of other risk factors.

Similar case numbers were reported in 2023 (n = 3162) and 2022 (n = 3185) (Figure 29). As in previous years, although seasonal prevalence was noted for non-invasive disease (increased numbers in the earlier months of the year and low numbers in the winter months), invasive disease showed no seasonality.

Greater numbers of invasive disease reported from the Gauteng and Western Cape Provinces may reflect healthcare seeking behaviour and clinician testing practices. Children younger than 5 years bear the highest burden of non-invasive disease, but invasive disease was reported more commonly in adults aged 35-44 years; as in previous years, this is likely the effect of a high proportion of HIV-infected cases in this age group.

*Salmonella* Enteritidis was the predominant serovar, followed by *Salmonella* Typhimurium, a pattern observed since 2012. Provincial differences in serovar proportions might reflect local transmission dynamics or undetected outbreaks and require further investigation.

#### Shigella species

#### Results

A total of 952 culture-confirmed cases of shigellosis were reported through the surveillance programme in 2023. Most cases (712/952; 75%) were identified in the public health sector (Table 32). The total includes *Shigella* spp. isolated from all sample sites, but in 90% (855/952) of the cases the isolate was recovered from stool or rectal swab samples reflecting non-invasive dysentery or diarrhoea. In the remaining 10% of cases, the isolate was recovered from blood culture (42/952; 4%) or other extra-intestinal sample sites (55/952; 6%) (Table 33).

The highest number of shigellosis cases occurred in January, March, and August (Figure 30). Thirty-seven per cent of cases were reported from Western Cape Province (352/952), with the Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal provinces contributing 26% (243/952) and 14% (136/952) of the total cases, respectively (Table 32).

The highest numbers of cases of shigellosis were reported in children younger than five years (320/952; 34%), followed by children 5 to 14 years of age (143/952; 15%). The proportion of invasive shigellosis cases remains low (42/952; 4%), and as in

previous years, invasive disease was highest in children younger than five years (16/42; 38%) (Table 34).

A total of 705 viable isolates were received and serotyped, including isolates submitted as part of routine laboratorybased surveillance as well as isolates submitted for outbreak investigation purposes. Twenty-seven different serotypes were identified. The most common serovar was S. flexneri type 2a (224/705; 32%), followed by S. sonnei (135/705; 19%), S. flexneri type 3a (83/705; 12%), and S. flexneri type 1b (81/705; 12%). The next most common serotypes were S. flexneri type 6 and S. flexneri type 4 (Table 35). Proportions of the serotypes differed among provinces (Figure 31), with S. flexneri type 2a predominating in three provinces (Western Cape, Eastern Cape, and Free State). In the Gauteng, KwaZulu-Natal, and Limpopo provinces, S. sonnei dominated. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing was not routinely performed but was available upon request. Of those isolates where susceptibility testing was performed, 100% (28/28) were susceptible to ciprofloxacin and 96% (27/28) were susceptible to azithromycin (Table 36).

Specimen	Private sector	Public sector	Total
Eastern Cape	8	99	107
Free State	21	28	49
Gauteng	138	105	243
KwaZulu-Natal	50	86	136
Limpopo	0	12	12
Mpumalanga	8	10	18
Northern Cape	0	10	10
North West	13	12	25
Western Cape	2	350	352
South Africa	240	712	952

#### Table 32. Number of cases of shigellosis by health sector and province, South Africa, 2023, n = 952 (including audit reports)

Table 33.	Number of	non-invasive	and invasive or	extraintestinal	cases of sl	higellosis r	eported by pr	imary ana	tomical s	ite of
isolation,	South Afric	a, 2023, n = 9	52 (including au	dit reports)						

Specimen	n	%
Stool	855	90
Blood culture	42	4
Urine	33	3
Other	22	2
Total	952	100



### Table 34. Number of non-invasive and invasive or extraintestinal cases of shigellosis reported by age category, South Africa, 2023, n = 952 (including audit reports)

Age category (years)	Non-invasive	Extraintestinal	Invasive	Total
0 - 4	292	12	16	320
5 - 14	134	8	1	143
15 - 24	56	9	0	65
25 - 34	78	9	1	88
35 - 44	94	8	3	105
45 - 54	61	1	3	65
55 - 64	46	2	7	55
≥ 65	70	6	9	85
Unknown	24	0	2	26
Total	855	55	42	952

#### Table 35. Six most common Shigella species (and serotype where applicable) by province, South Africa, 2023, N = 595\*

Province	S. flexneri 2a	S. sonnei Phase II	S. flexneri Type 3a	<i>S. flexneri</i> Type 1b	S. flexneri Type 6	S. flexneri Type 4
Eastern Cape	20	6	16	13	4	4
Free State	13	10	2	3	2	0
Gauteng	55	57	18	10	15	5
KwaZulu-Natal	17	23	1	11	2	4
Limpopo	0	4	0	0	0	0
Mpumalanga	3	3	0	1	1	0
Northern Cape	0	0	2	1	2	0
North West	4	8	2	0	1	0
Western Cape	112	24	42	42	20	12
South Africa	224	135	83	81	47	25

\*Includes Shigella isolates from invasive, extraintestinal and non-invasive cases

### Table 36. Ciprofloxacin and azithromycin susceptibility\* of viable *Shigella* isolates received from invasive disease and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases, South Africa, 2023, n = 28

Antimicrobial agent	Susceptible, n (%)	Non-susceptible, n (%)
Ciprofloxacin	28 (100)	0 (0)
Azithromycin	27 (96)	1 (4)

\*According to CLSI breakpoints





#### Discussion

Although *Shigella* infection has been associated with waterborne outbreaks in South Africa, person-to-person transmission plays an important role. Children younger than five years continue to bear the highest burden of shigellosis. The primary manifestation of disease due to *Shigella* is non-invasive dysentery or diarrhoea, and invasive disease is uncommon.

Similar case numbers were reported in 2022 (n = 948) and 2023 (n = 952). As in 2022, increased numbers of cases were identified in the earlier months of the year. No typical pattern of seasonality was noted in Figure 32.

#### Campylobacter species

#### Results

Only cases of campylobacteriosis for which isolates were received from diagnostic laboratories are reported here. Audits were not performed, so cases for which isolates were not submitted are not included in the report.

Of the 694 isolates of *Campylobacter* spp. submitted through the surveillance programme in 2023, 80% (555/694) were submitted by diagnostic laboratories in the private sector (Table 37). This includes *Campylobacter* spp. isolated from all sample sites, but in 97% (675/694) of the cases the isolate was recovered from stool or rectal swab samples reflecting non-invasive diarrhoeal disease. In the remainder of the cases, the isolate was recovered from blood culture specimen (19/694; 3%).

Although proportions differ, as in previous years, *S. flexneri* type 2a and *S. sonnei* were two of the three commonest serotypes. Provincial differences in serotype proportions might reflect local transmission dynamics or undetected outbreaks.

There was no apparent seasonal pattern (Figure 33). Gauteng Province reported more than half the cases (406/694; 59%), followed by the Western Cape (186/694; 27%); these two provinces accounted for 86% of the total cases (Table 37).

Case numbers were highest in children younger than five years of age (223/694; 32%; Table 38). *Campylobacter jejuni* was the most common species identified (520/659; 79%) by PCR testing. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing is not routinely performed at the centre.

	Table 37. Number of cases	of campylobacteriosis b	y health sector and	province, South	Africa, 2023, n = 694*
--	---------------------------	-------------------------	---------------------	-----------------	------------------------

Province	Private sector	Public sector	Total
Eastern Cape	16	23	39
Free State	22	1	23
Gauteng	380	26	406
KwaZulu-Natal	1	6	7
Limpopo	0	0	0
Mpumalanga	9	1	10
Northern Cape	0	2	2
North West	21	0	21
Western Cape	106	80	186
South Africa	555	139	694

\* Only cases of campylobacteriosis for which isolates were received from diagnostic laboratories are reported



\*Only cases of campylobacteriosis for which isolates were received from diagnostic laboratories are reported. Audits were not performed.

Age category (years)	Private sector	Public sector	
0 - 4	174	49	223
5 - 14	73	8	81
15 - 24	47	8	55
25 - 34	59	14	73
35 - 44	40	22	62
45 - 54	58	15	73
55 - 64	37	9	46
≥ 65	61	11	72
Unknown	6	3	9
Total	555	139	694

#### Table 38. Number of Campylobacter spp. isolates by health sector and age category, South Africa, 2023, n = 694

#### Discussion

The number of *Campylobacter* spp. isolates submitted by public sector laboratories (129/694; 20%) remains low and strikingly disproportionate to the size of the population served in comparison to the number of isolates sub-mitted from the private sector. However, audits of the NHLS CDW data were not performed, and cases in the public sector are therefore

under-reported. Differences in health-seeking behaviour and diagnostic practices among clinicians in the respective health sectors, as well as differences in laboratory methods utilised for culture of *Campylobacter* spp. from stool samples, are also likely contributing factors.

#### Listeriosis

#### Results

A total of 83 cases of listeriosis were notified through the NMC surveillance system in 2023. Three provinces reported 86% of the cases: Western Cape (27/83; 33%), Gauteng (24/83; 29%), and KwaZulu-Natal (20/83; 24%; Table 39). Cases were most common among adults aged 15–49 years (32/83; 39%), followed by neonates <28 days (21/83; 25%; Table 40).

Thirty-one of the 83 cases (37%) were detected at ESS, but listeriosis case investigation forms were only completed for 19 cases (61%) at these sites (Table 41). Patients were aged between

0 and 59 years with a median age of 30 years, with 79% (15/19) being male. Most were adults within the age group 15–49 years (12/19; 63%), followed by neonates aged below 29 days (5/19; 26%) and the elderly (2/19; 11%). HIV status was known for 79% (15/19) of the cases. One neonate was HIV-exposed (1/5) while six of the ten adults with known HIV-status were HIV positive (6/10; 60%). Six (6/19; 29%) deaths were reported. Pregnancy-associated cases accounted for 32% (6/19) of the total cases, all resulting in live births.

#### Table 39. Number of cases of listeriosis by health sector and province, South Africa, 2023, n = 83

Province	Private sector	Public sector	Total
Eastern Cape	3	2	5
Free State	0	2	2
Gauteng	8	16	24
KwaZulu-Natal	5	15	20
Limpopo	0	2	2
Mpumalanga	0	2	2
Northern Cape	0	0	0
North West	0	1	1
Western Cape	3	24	27
South Africa	19	64	83

#### Table 40. Number of cases of listeriosis by age group and province, South Africa, 2023, n = 83

Age category	Private sector	Public sector	Total
Neonates <29 days	1	20	21
1 month-14 years	0	4	4
15-49 years	6	26	32
50-64 years	1	6	7
65 years & older	10	4	14
Age unknown	1	4	5
South Africa	19	64	83

Dravinga	Total	Cases repo	Cases reported from ESS		Completed case reports	
Province	lotal cases	n	%	n	%	
Eastern Cape	5	0	0	0	0	
Free State	2	0	0	0	0	
Gauteng	24	12	50	5	42	
KwaZulu-Natal	20	5	25	4	80	
Limpopo	2	0	0	0	0	
Mpumalanga	2	0	0	0	0	
Northern Cape	0	0	0	0	0	
North West	1	0	0	0	0	
Western Cape	27	14	52	10	71	

#### Table 41. Number and percentage of listeriosis cases reported from ESS by province, South Africa, 2023, n = 31

31

#### Discussion

**South Africa** 

The number of listeriosis cases for 2023 (n = 83) is below the expected range of annual cases (119–298) based on the estimated incidence of sporadic cases (2–5 cases per million

83

populations per year). The distribution of cases by province and age group is similar to that reported in 2022.

19

61

37

#### Vibrio cholerae

#### Results

A total of 193 isolates were tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases in 2023, including culture, serotyping, and/or PCR. All were confirmed as *Vibrio cholerae* and further characterised as toxigenic serogroup 01 *Vibrio cholerae* (186 cases, considered to be cholera cases) and non-toxigenic, non-01 *Vibrio cholerae* (seven cases that do not meet the case definition for cholera) (Table 42). The vast majority of isolates confirmed as cholera cases at the centre were from the Gauteng Province (178/186; 96%). Most cases occurred in the 35–44-year age group (38/186;

#### Discussion

Prior to this reporting period, the last case of toxigenic *Vibrio cholerae* 01 was identified in South Africa in 2020. From 1 January through 31 March 2023, 11 confirmed cholera cases were identified (toxigenic *Vibrio cholerae* O1 serotype Ogawa) in Gauteng (Ekurhuleni and City of Johannesburg), and in February 2023, a cholera outbreak was declared in South Africa. The initial three cases were imported or import-related cases following

20%), followed by the 45–54 year (30/186; 16%) and 25–34 year (25/186; 13%) age groups (Table 43). Antimicrobial susceptibility testing was performed on 146 *Vibrio cholerae* O1 isolates, and all were susceptible to azithromycin and ciprofloxacin (Table 44). In addition, 68 stool specimens were received and tested using PCR, of which 55 were negative for the cholera-toxin ctxA gene (do not meet the case definition for cholera), while 13 were positive for the cholera-toxin ctxA gene (considered to be cholera cases) (Table 45).

travel to Malawi, while subsequent cases acquired infection locally. Most cases were reported from May through July 2023, primarily from the City of Tshwane in Gauteng. Only isolates/ stool specimens tested at the centre are in-cluded in this report. Cases of nontoxigenic non-O1/non-O139 *V. cholerae* are not considered to be cholera and do not warrant a public health response.

Province	Vibrio cholerae O1	Vibrio cholerae non-O1	Total
Eastern Cape	1	2	3
Free State	1	0	1
Gauteng	178	0	178
KwaZulu-Natal	0	1	1
Limpopo	4	0	4
Mpumalanga	1	0	1
Northern Cape	0	0	0
North West	0	0	0
Western Cape	1	4	5
South Africa	186	7	193

#### Table 42. Number of Vibrio cholerae isolates tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases by serogroup and province, 2023, n = 193\*

\* Only isolates that were received and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases are reported

### Table 43. Number of *Vibrio cholerae* isolates tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases by serogroup and age group, 2023, n = 193\*

Age category (years)	Vibrio cholerae O1	Vibrio cholerae non-O1	n
0 - 4	9	0	9
5 - 14	21	2	23
15 - 24	14	1	15
25 - 34	25	0	25
35 - 44	38	0	38
45 - 54	30	0	30
55 - 64	13	1	14
≥ 65	17	2	19
Unknown	19	1	20
Total	186	7	193

\*Only isolates that were received and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases are reported

### Table 44. Ciprofloxacin and azithromycin susceptibility\* of viable *Vibrio cholerae* isolates received and tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases, South Africa, 2023, (N = 146)

Antimicrobial agent	Susceptible, n (%)	Non-susceptible, n (%)
Ciprofloxacin	146 (100)	0 (0)
Azithromycin	146 (100)	0 (0)

\*According to CLSI breakpoints

#### Table 45. Number of Vibrio cholerae PCR results of stools tested at the Centre for Enteric Diseases by province, 2023, n = 68

Province	Vibrio cholerae O1	Toxin gene negative	Total
Eastern Cape	0	0	0
Free State	7	24	31
Gauteng	5	21	26
KwaZulu-Natal	1	0	1
Limpopo	0	3	3
Mpumalanga	0	5	5
Northern Cape	0	0	0
North West	0	1	1
Western Cape	0	1	1
South Africa	13	55	68

### REFERENCES

- Govender N, Quan V, Prentice E, von Gottberg A, Keddy K, McCarthy KM, et al. GERMS-SA: A national South African surveillance network for bacterial and fungal diseases. Johannesburg, South Africa. National Institute for Communicable Diseases; 2006. National Institute for Communicable Diseases. Communicable Disease Surveillance Bulletin, 2015, 13(2). Available from: <u>https:// www.nicd.ac.za/assets/files/CommDisBull%2013(2)-June%202015.pdf</u>
- Statistics South Africa. Mid-year population estimates, South Africa, 2015. P0302. 3 May 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/</u> <u>P03022019.pdf</u> doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0010448.
- 3. Thembisa Model; Johnson LF, et al. (2022) The effect of HIV programs in South Africa on national HIV incidence trends, 2000-2019. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 90: 115-123.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) (2016): Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; Twenty-sixth informational supplement. CLSI document M100-S26. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.

### **SUMMARY**

In 2023, GERMS-SA continued to serve as a vital laboratory-based surveillance program at the NICD, offering valuable pathogenspecific trend data. Several smaller sites experienced a slower start to the year, with fewer laboratory-confirmed cases than expected. Patient flow was further impacted at some locations by structural issues such as planned renovations and patient discharges occurring before alerts were issued, all of which contributed to lower consenting and interview rates. Expanding patient interviews within surveillance is expected to improve data depth and accuracy, supporting more targeted public health interventions. Despite these challenges, CRF completion rates remained strong. Patient alerts from SDW and NMC aided in tracking individuals meeting case definitions, while data quality continued to improve through regular training and audits for surveillance officers. Additionally, 5-Flucytosine (5FC) was added to the Essential Medicines List and became accessible via a national tender in October 2023, enhancing availability of this essential treatment.

**Opportunistic infections:** The number of **cryptococcal** disease episodes remained stable from 2022 to 2023, indicating a continued significant healthcare burden, with many patients requiring hospitalisation. The in-hospital mortality rate remained high, especially among those who did not receive flucytosine-based induction therapy, despite treatment guidelines recommending its use. The majority of *E. coli* cases were concentrated in Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal provinces, with over half originating from the bloodstream. Hospitalacquired infections were associated with lower antibiotic susceptibility, especially to third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins and fluoroquinolones. While carbapenem susceptibility remained stable, ongoing monitoring is essential, particularly for carbapenemase-producing E. coli mediated by OXA-48. In non-typhoidal salmonellosis, HIV infection remains the single most important risk factor for invasive disease and is reported more commonly in adults aged 35-44 years. The higher numbers in Gauteng and the Western Cape provinces likely reflect differences in healthcare-seeking behaviour and testing practices.

Vaccine-preventable diseases: The 2023 data continue to monitor trends in invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) and Haemophilus influenzae type b (HIb), post-EPI vaccine introduction of PCV13 and Hib booster (2009). Incidence of invasive HI (notifiable medical condition) has remained similar to that of 2022. Non-typeable HI dominated, followed by type B (Hib), especially in infants. Approximately 30% of HI cases were fatal, particularly among infants and the elderly. Vaccination records for children with Hib infection showed that all were appropriately vaccinated for age, with some too young for the booster dose. The high rate of ampicillin-resistant isolates across serotypes indicates a need for ongoing monitoring into 2024. The Western Cape province's high incidence rate may be linked to increased specimen collection, emphasising the importance of surveillance in this region. Incidence of IPD is still lower than pre-COVID-19 levels. The Western Cape province showed the highest IPD incidence, with infants and adults aged 45-64 years being most affected. Resistance to penicillin and ceftriaxone was observed. In-hospital fatality was 33%, especially among those with meningitis. Serotypes 3 and 8 were the top disease-causing serotypes in both children and adults, with serotypes 19F, 19A,

and 3 among the PCV13 serotypes causing the most disease in children. IPD incidence trends in 2023 highlighted the persistent high burden in certain demographics, particularly infants and adults with comorbidities. With South Africa's shift to PCV10 (CIPLA) in 2024, ongoing surveillance of serotype-specific IPD will be critical to monitor the impacts of this change on disease trends. Infants under one year and adults over 64 years of age showed the highest incidence of **invasive group B strep disease**. Serotypes III, Ia, and V were predominant. Mortality in neonates reached 17%, with significant maternal and neonatal risk factors associated with group B strep. Surveillance underscores the importance of emerging vaccines containing prevalent serotypes.

Epidemic-prone diseases (Notifiable medical conditions): The incidence of invasive meningococcal disease in 2023 marked a 53% increase from 2022, with the Western Cape province showing the highest rates. Cases predominantly involved infants and were largely serogroup B, with significant penicillin resistance observed. Enhanced surveillance sites showed an 11% in-hospital fatality rate, with some patients experiencing long-term sequelae. In 2023, the highest number of enteric fever cases originated from Gauteng and the Western Cape; children aged 5-14 years were the most affected. There was low ciprofloxacin resistance (2%); all isolates were azithromycin-susceptible. Outbreaks remained sporadic, with most cases acquired locally. Diagnostic awareness is key due to under-reported cases. Highest *Shigella* cases were in children <5 years of age, with low invasive disease (4%). The predominant serotypes were S. flexneri type 2a and S. sonnei. Children were the most affected by non-invasive shigellosis. Transmission was largely person-to-person. The number of listeriosis cases for 2023 (83) were mostly from the Western Cape, Gauteng, and KwaZulu-Natal provinces and primarily affected adults aged 15-49 years of age and neonates. The number of cases was lower than expected; distribution patterns mirrored the previous year. The majority (96%) of **cholera** cases were from Gauteng province, particularly affecting adults aged 35-44 years of age. All tested isolates showed susceptibility to azithromycin and ciprofloxacin. Following the first confirmed case in three years, an outbreak was declared in February 2023, initially linked to imported cases from Malawi. The local spread primarily affected the City of Tshwane from May to July. Non-toxigenic strains did not warrant a public health response. The highest case numbers of campylobacteriosis were mainly from privatesector laboratories. Gauteng and the Western Cape provinces accounted for 86% of cases, with children <5 years of age making up the largest age group affected. Campylobacter jejuni was the most commonly identified species. Public sector submissions were notably lower, likely due to differences in health-seeking behaviours, diagnostic practices, and laboratory methods, which may lead to under-reporting. Invasive group A strep maintained pre-pandemic incidence levels. The Western Cape, Gauteng, and Eastern Cape provinces had the highest cases, affecting mainly infants and the elderly. All isolates remained susceptible to first-line antimicrobials, with 20% in-hospital mortality, often within a day of admission.

### **PUBLICATIONS**

Peer-reviewed GERMS-SA and GERMS-SA-related publications 2023

- 1. Williams T, Jackson S, Barr I, Bi S, Bhiman J, Ellis J, von Gottberg A, Lindstrom S, Peret T, Rughooputh S, Viegas M, Hirve S, Zambon M, Zhang W, Dia N, Razanazatovo N, Al-Nabet ADMH, Abubakar A, Tivane A, Barakat A, Naguib A, Aziz A, Vicari A, Moen A, Govindakarnavar A, Hall A, Darmaa B, Nathalie B, Herring B, Caetano BC, Whittaker B, Baumeister E, Nakouné E, Guthrie E, Inbanathan F, Nair H, Campbell H, Kadjo HA, Oumzil H, Heraud JM, Mott JA, Namulondo J, Leite J, Nahapetyan K, Al Ariqi L, Gazo MHI, Chadha M, Pisareva M, Venter M, Sigueira MM, Lumandas M, Niang M, Albuaini M, Salman M, Oberste S, Srikantiah P, Tang P, Couto P, Smith P, Coyle PV, Dussart P, Nguyen PN, Okada PA, Wijesinghe PR, Samuel R, Brown R, Pebody R, Fasce R, Jha R, Lindstrom S, Gerber S, Potdar V, Dong X, Deng YM. Results from the second WHO external quality assessment for the molecular detection of respiratory syncytial virus, 2019–2020. Influenza Other Respi Viruses [Internet]. 2023 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];17(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/36824313/
- Löwensteyn YN, Willemsen JE, Mazur NI, Scheltema NM, Van Haastregt NCJ, Buuren AAAT, Van Roessel I, Scheepmaker D, Nair H, Van De Ven PM, Bont LJ. Nosocomial RSV-related Inhospital Mortality in Children. Pediatr Infect Dis J [Internet]. 2023 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];42(1):1–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36476518/
- Sun K, Tempia S, Kleynhans J, von Gottberg A, McMorrow ML, Wolter N, Bhiman JN, Moyes J, Carrim M, Martinson NA, Kahn K, Lebina L, du Toit JD, Mkhencele T, Viboud C, Cohen C, Buys A, de Gouveia L, du Plessis M, Gómez-Olivé FX, Kgasago KP, Kotane R, Moloantoa T, Tollman S, Wafawanaka F. Rapidly shifting immunologic landscape and severity of SARS-CoV-2 in the Omicron era in South Africa. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2023 Jan 16 [cited 2023 Apr 4];14(1):246. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36646700/
- Mazur NI, Terstappen J, Baral R, Bardají A, Beutels P, Buchholz UJ, Cohen C, Crowe JE, Cutland CL, Eckert L, Feikin D, Fitzpatrick T, Fong Y, Graham BS, Heikkinen T, Higgins D, Hirve S, Klugman KP, Kragten-Tabatabaie L, Lemey P, Libster R, Löwensteyn Y, Mejias A, Munoz FM, Munywoki PK, Mwananyanda L, Nair H, Nunes MC, Ramilo O, Richmond P, Ruckwardt TJ, Sande C, Srikantiah P, Thacker N, Waldstein KA, Weinberger D, Wildenbeest J, Wiseman D, Zar HJ, Zambon M, Bont L. Respiratory syncytial virus prevention within reach: the vaccine and monoclonal antibody landscape. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];23(1):e2–21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/35952703/
- 5. Müller A, Lekhuleni C, Hupp S, du Plessis M, Holivololona L, Babiychuk E, Leib SL, Grandgirard D, Iliev Al, von Gottberg

A, Hathaway LJ. Meningitis-associated pneumococcal serotype 8, ST 53, strain is hypervirulent in a rat model and has non-haemolytic pneumolysin which can be attenuated by liposomes. Front Cell Infect Microbiol [Internet]. 2023 Jan 6 [cited 2023 Apr 4];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/36683678/

- Kleynhans J, Walaza S, Martinson NA, Neti M, von Gottberg A, Bhiman JN, Toi D, Amoako DG, Buys A, Ndlangisa K, Wolter N, Genade L, Maloma L, Chewparsad J, Lebina L, de Gouveia L, Kotane R, Tempia S, Cohen C. Household Transmission of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 From Adult Index Cases With and Without Human Immunodeficiency Virus in South Africa, 2020-2021: A Case-Ascertained, Prospective, Observational Household Transmission Study. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];76(3):e71–81. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1093/cid/ciac640
- 7 Davies MA, Morden E, Rousseau P, Arendse J, Bam JL, Boloko L, Cloete K, Cohen C, Chetty N, Dane P, Heekes A, Hsiao NY, Hunter M, Hussey H, Jacobs T, Jassat W, Kariem S, Kassanjee R, Laenen I, Roux S Le, Lessells R, Mahomed H, Maughan D, Meintjes G, Mendelson M, Mnguni A, Moodley M, Murie K, Naude J, Ntusi NAB, Paleker M, Parker A, Pienaar D, Preiser W, Prozesky H, Raubenheimer P, Rossouw L, Schrueder N, Smith B, Smith M, Solomon W, Symons G, Taljaard J, Wasserman S, Wilkinson RJ, Wolmarans M, Wolter N, Boulle A. Outcomes of laboratory-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection during resurgence driven by Omicron lineages BA.4 and BA.5 compared with previous waves in the Western Cape Province, South Africa. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];127:63-8. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36436752/
- Carrim M, Temp[1]ia S, Thindwa D, Martinson NA, Kahn K, Flasche S, Hellferscee O, Treurnicht FK, McMorrow ML, Moyes J, Mkhencele T, Mathunjwa A, Kleynhans J, Lebina L, Mothlaoleng K, Wafawanaka F, Gómez-Olivé FX, Cohen C, von Gottberg A, Wolter N. Unmasking Pneumococcal Carriage in a High Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Prevalence Population in two Community Cohorts in South Africa, 2016-2018:The PHIRST Study. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 8 [cited 2023 Apr 4];76(3):e710–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35717655/
- Moosa F, Tempia S, Kleynhans J, McMorrow M, Moyes J, du Plessis M, Carrim M, Treurnicht FK, Helfersee O, Mkhencele T, Mathunjwa A, Martinson NA, Kahn K, Lebina L, Wafawanaka F, Cohen C, von Gottberg A, Wolter N, Mothlaoleng K, Mathee A, Piketh S. Incidence and Transmission Dynamics of Bordetella pertussis Infection in Rural and Urban Communities, South Africa, 2016 2018. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];29(2):294–303. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36692337/

### **PUBLICATIONS**

- Genade LP, Kahamba T, Scott L, Tempia S, Walaza S, David A, Stevens W, Hlongwane K, von Gottberg A, Du Plessis M, Kleynhans J, Cohen C, Martinson NA. Co-testing a single sputum specimen for TB and SARS-CoV-2. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Apr 4];27(2):146–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/36853101/
- Thindwa D, Clifford S, Kleynhans J, von Gottberg A, Walaza S, Meiring S, Swarthout TD, Miller E, McIntyre P, Andrews N, Amin-Chowdhury Z, Fry N, Jambo KC, French N, Almeida SCG, Ladhani SN, Heyderman RS, Cohen C, de Cunto Brandileone MC, Flasche S. Optimal age targeting for pneumococcal vaccination in older adults; a modelling study. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2023 Feb 9 [cited 2023 Apr 4];14(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36797259/
- 12. Waldock J, Weiss CD, Wang W, Levine MZ, Jefferson SN, Ho S, Hoschler K, Londt BZ, Masat E, Carolan L, Sánchez-Ovando S, Fox A, Watanabe S, Akimoto M, Sato A, Kishida N, Buys A, Maake L, Fourie C, Caillet C, Raynaud S, Webby RJ, DeBeauchamp J, Cox RJ, Lartey SL, Trombetta CM, Marchi S, Montomoli E, Sanz-Muñoz I, Eiros JM, Sánchez-Martínez J, Duijsings D, Engelhardt OG. An external quality assessment feasibility study; cross laboratory comparison of haemagglutination inhibition assay and microneutralization assay performance for seasonal influenza serology testing: A FLUCOP study. Front Immunol [Internet]. 2023 Feb 28 [cited 2023 Apr 4];14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/36926342/
- Hysenaj L, Little S, Kulhanek K, Magnen M, Bahl K, Gbenedio OM, Prinz M, Rodriguez L, Andersen C, Rao AA, Shen A, Lone JC, Lupin-Jimenez LC, Bonser LR, Serwas NK, Mick E, Khalid MM, Taha TY, Kumar R, Li JZ, Ding VW, Matsumoto S, Maishan M, Sreekumar B, Simoneau C, Nazarenko I, Tomlinson MG, Khan K, von Gottberg A, Sigal A, Looney MR, Fragiadakis GK, Jablons DM, Langelier CR, Matthay M, Krummel M, Erle DJ, Combes AJ, Sil A, Ott M, Kratz JR, Roose JP. SARS-CoV-2 infection of airway organoids reveals conserved use of Tetraspanin-8 by Ancestral, Delta, and Omicron variants. Stem Cell Reports [Internet]. 2023 Mar 14 [cited 2023 Apr 4];18(3):636–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/36827975/
- Cohen C, Pulliam J. COVID-19 infection, reinfection, and the transition to endemicity. Lancet (London, England) [Internet].
   2023 Mar [cited 2023 Apr 4];401(10379):798–800. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36930672/
- Koltai M, Moyes J, Nyawanda B, Nyiro J, Munywoki PK, Tempia S, Li X, Antillon M, Bilcke J, Flasche S, Beutels P, Nokes DJ, Cohen C, Jit M. Estimating the cost-effectiveness of maternal vaccination and monoclonal antibodies for respiratory syncytial virus in Kenya and South Africa. BMC Med [Internet]. 2023 Mar 31 [cited 2023 Apr 4];21(1):120. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37004062/
- 16. Grant R, Sacks JA, Abraham P, Chunsuttiwat S, Cohen C, Figueroa JP, Fleming T, Fine P, Goldblatt D, Hasegawa H,

MacIntrye CR, Memish ZA, Miller E, Nishioka S, Sall AA, Sow S, Tomori O, Wang Y, Van Kerkhove MD, Wambo MA, Cohen HA, Mesfin S, Otieno JR, Subissi L, Briand S, Wentworth DE, Subbarao K. When to update COVID-19 vaccine composition. Nat Med [Internet]. 2023 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];29(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/36807683/

- 17. Hawkins PA, Chochua S, Lo SW, Belman S, Antonio M, Kwambana-Adams B, von Gottberg A, du Plessis M, Cornick J, Beall B, Breiman RF, Bentley SD, McGee L, The Global Pneumococcal Sequencing Consortium. A global genomic perspective on the multidrug-resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae 15A-CC63 sub-lineage following pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction. Microb genomics [Internet]. 2023 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];9(4):mgen000998. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/37083600/
- Moyes J, Tempia S, Walaza S, McMorrow ML, Treurnicht F, Wolter N, von Gottberg A, Kahn K, Cohen AL, Dawood H, Variava E, Cohen C. The burden of RSV-associated illness in children aged < 5 years, South Africa, 2011 to 2016. BMC Med [Internet]. 2023 Apr 11 [cited 2023 Jul 4];21(1):139. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/37038125
- Moyes J, Tempia S, Walaza S, McMorrow ML, Treurnicht F, Wolter N, von Gottberg A, Kahn K, Cohen AL, Dawood H, Variava E, Cohen C. The economic burden of RSVassociated illness in children aged < 5 years, South Africa 2011-2016. BMC Med [Internet]. 2023 Apr 13 [cited 2023 Jul 4];21(1):146. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/37055799
- Jassat W, Abdool Karim SS, Ozougwu L, Welch R, Mudara C, Masha M, Rousseau P, Wolmarans M, Selikow A, Govender N, Walaza S, von Gottberg A, Wolter N, Terrence Pisa P, Sanne I, Govender S, Blumberg L, Cohen C, Groome MJ. Trends in Cases, Hospitalizations, and Mortality Related to the Omicron BA.4/BA.5 Subvariants in South Africa. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2022 Apr 17 [cited 2023 Jul 4];76(8):1468–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/36453094/
- Carbonell-Estrany X, Simões EA, Bont LJ, Paes BA. Prioritising respiratory syncytial virus prevention in low-income and middle-income countries (Cheryl Cohen part of RSV Prevention Collaborators). Lancet Glob Heal [Internet]. 2023 May 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];11(5):e655–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37061306/
- 22. Staadegaard L, Del Riccio M, Wiegersma S, El Guerche-Séblain C, Dueger E, Akçay M, Casalegno JS, Dückers M, Caini S, Paget J. (Nicole Wolter is part NIC collaborators). The impact of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic on global influenza surveillance: Insights from 18 National Influenza Centers based on a survey conducted between November 2021 and March 2022. Influenza Other Respi Viruses [Internet]. 2023 May 1 [cited 2023 Jul 4];17(5):e13140. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37180840/

- Jamieson L, Van Schalkwyk C, Nichols BE, Meyer-Rath G, Silal S, Pulliam J, Blumberg L, Cohen C, Moultrie H, Jassat W. Differential in-hospital mortality and intensive care treatment over time: Informing hospital pathways for modelling COVID-19 in South Africa. Musuka GN, editor. PLOS Glob public Heal [Internet]. 2023 May 17 [cited 2023 Jul 4];3(5):e0001073. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/37195977
- 24. Moyes J, Tempia S, Walaza S, McMorrow ML, Cohen AL, Treurnicht F, Hellferscee O, Wolter N, Von Gottberg A, Dawood H, Variava E, Kahn K, Madhi SA, Cohen C. The attributable fraction of respiratory syncytial virus among patients of different ages with influenza-like illness and severe acute respiratory illness in a high HIV prevalence setting, South Africa, 2012-2016. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 May 20 [cited 2023 Jul 4];134:71–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/37211271
- 25. Ismael N, van Wyk S, Tegally H, Giandhari J, San JE, Moir M, Pillay S, Utpatel C, Singh L, Naidoo Y, Ramphal U, Mabunda N, Abílio N, Arnaldo P, Xavier J, Amoako DG, Everatt J, Ramphal Y, Maharaj A, de Araujo L, Anyaneji UJ, Tshiabuila D, Viegas S, Lessells R, Engelbrecht S, Gudo E, Jani I, Niemann S, Wilkinson E, de Oliveira T. Genomic epidemiology of SARS-CoV-2 during the first four waves in Mozambique. PLOS Glob public Heal [Internet]. 2023 Mar 6 [cited 2023 Oct 4];3(3):e0001593. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/36963096/
- Weiner R, Magni S, Maakamadi T, Fellows T, Aitken S, Yun J, Tempia S, von Gottberg A, Bhiman J, Walaza S, Moyes J, Cawood C, Martinson N, Lebina L, Cohen C, Wolter N. Knowledge, attitudes, practices and intention to get vaccinated against COVID-19: results from a cross-sectional survey in three peri-urban communities in South Africa. Pan Afr Med J [Internet]. 2023 Jul 12 [cited 2023 Oct 4];45(120). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37745916/
- Kleynhans J, Dall'Amico L, Gauvin L, Tizzoni M, Maloma L, Walaza S, Martinson NA, von Gottberg A, Wolter N, Makhasi M, Cohen C, Cattuto C, Tempia S. Association of closerange contact patterns with SARS-CoV-2: a household transmission study. Elife [Internet]. 2023 Jul 18 [cited 2023 Sep 14];12. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37461328/
- Magobo RE, Ismail H, Lowe M, Strasheim W, Mogokotleng R, Perovic O, Kwenda S, Ismail A, Makua M, Bore A, Phayane R, Naidoo H, Dennis T, Ngobese M, Wijnant W, Govender NP. Outbreak of NDM-1- and OXA-181-Producing Klebsiella pneumoniae Bloodstream Infections in a Neonatal Unit, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Oct 4];29(8):1531–9. Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37486166/
- Mandomando I, Mwenda JM, Nakamura T, de Gouveia L, von Gottberg A, Kwambana-Adams BA, Antonio M, Messa A, Litt D, Seaton S, Weldegebriel GG, Biey JNM, Serhan F. Evaluation of Laboratories Supporting Invasive Bacterial

Vaccine-Preventable Disease (IB-VPD) Surveillance in the World Health Organization African Region, through the Performance of Coordinated External Quality Assessment. Trop Med Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Aug 14 [cited 2023 Oct 4];8(8):413. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37624351/

- 30. Wolter N, Tempia S, von Gottberg A, Bhiman JN, Walaza S, Kleynhans J, Moyes J, Aitken S, Magni S, Yun J, Fellows T, Makamadi T, Weiner R, Cawood C, Martinson N, Lebina L, Cohen C. Healthcare utilization during the first two waves of the COVID-19 epidemic in South Africa: A cross-sectional household survey. PLoS One [Internet]. 2023b Aug 25 [cited 2023 Sep 14];18(8):e0290787. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37624826/
- 31. Bingham J, Tempia S, Moultrie H, Viboud C, Jassat W, Cohen C, Pulliam JRC. Estimating the time-varying reproduction number for COVID-19 in South Africa during the first four waves using multiple measures of incidence for public and private sectors across four waves. Anjorin AA, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2023 Sep 22 [cited 2023 Oct 4];18(9):e0287026. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/37738280/
- 32. Jassat W, Reyes LF, Munblit D, Caoili J, Bozza F, Hashmi M, Edelstein M, Cohen C, Alvarez-Moreno CA, Cao B. Long COVID in low-income and middle-income countries: the hidden public health crisis. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. 2023 Sep 30 [cited 2023 Oct 4];402(10408):1115–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37652071/
- Shaw D, Abad R, Amin-Chowdhury Z, Bautista A, Bennett 33 D, Broughton K, Cao B, Casanova C, Choi EH, Chu YW, Claus H, Coelho J, Corcoran M, Cottrell S, Cunney R, Cuypers L, Dalby T, Davies H, de Gouveia L, Deghmane AE, Demczuk W, Desmet S, Domenech M, Drew R, du Plessis M, Duarte C, Erlendsdóttir H, Fry NK, Fuursted K, Hale T, Henares D, Henriques-Normark B, Hilty M, Hoffmann S, Humphreys H, Ip M, Jacobsson S, Johnson C, Johnston J, Jolley KA, Kawabata A, Kozakova J, Kristinsson KG, Krizova P, Kuch A, Ladhani S, Lâm TT, León ME, Lindholm L, Litt D, Maiden MCJ, Martin I, Martiny D, Mattheus W, McCarthy ND, Meehan M, Meiring S, Mölling P, Morfeldt E, Morgan J, Mulhall R, Muñoz-Almagro C, Murdoch D, Murphy J, Musilek M, Mzabi A, Novakova L, Oftadeh S, Perez-Argüello A, Pérez-Vázquez M, Perrin M, Perry M, Prevost B, Roberts M, Rokney A, Ron M, Sanabria OM, Scott KJ, Sheppard C, Siira L, Sintchenko V, Skoczyńska A, Sloan M, Slotved HC, Smith AJ, Steens A, Taha MK, Toropainen M, Tzanakaki G, Vainio A, van der Linden MPG, van Sorge NM, Varon E, Vohrnova S, von Gottberg A, Yuste J, Zanella R, Zhou F, Brueggemann AB. Trends in invasive bacterial diseases during the first 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic: analyses of prospective surveillance data from 30 countries and territories in the IRIS Consortium. Lancet Digit Heal [Internet]. 2023 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Oct 4];5(9): e582-93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37516557/

- Chiwandire N, Jassat W, Groome M, Kufa T, Walaza S, Wolter N, von Gottberg A, Zar HJ, Reubenson G, Tempia S, Ebonwu J, Govender N, Ntshoe G, Shonhiwa AM, Blumberg L, Cohen C. Changing Epidemiology of COVID-19 in Children and Adolescents Over Four Successive Epidemic Waves in South Africa, 2020-2022. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc [Internet]. 2023 Apr 18 [cited 2024 Jan 4];12(3):128–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36648247/
- Farley E, Okeibunor J, Balde T, Donkor IO, Kleynhans J, Wamala JF, Kaboré NF, Balam S, Chamla D, Braka F, Subissi L, Herring B, Whelan MG, Bergeri I, Lewis HC. Short communication-Lessons learnt during the implementation of Unity-aligned SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence studies in Africa. Influenza Other Respi Viruses [Internet]. 2023 Aug 1 [cited 2024 Jan 3];17(8):e13170. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/37621920/
- 36. Zhu Y, Almeida FJ, Baillie JK, Bowen AC, Britton PN, Brizuela ME, Buonsenso D, Burgner D, Chew KY, Chokephaibulkit K, Cohen C, Cormier SA, Crawford N, Curtis N, Farias CGA, Gilks CF, von Gottberg A, Hamer D, Jarovsky D, Jassat W, Jesus AR, Kemp LS, Khumcha B, McCallum G, Miller JE, Morello R, Munro APS, Openshaw PJM, Padmanabhan S, Phongsamart W, Reubenson G, Ritz N, Rodrigues F, Rungmaitree S, Russell F, Sáfadi MAP, Saner C, Semple MG, Prado da Silva DGB, de Sousa LMM, Diogo Moço Souza M, Spann K, Walaza S, Wolter N, Xia Y, Yeoh DK, Zar HJ, Zimmermann P, Short KR, Alex B, Andrikopoulos P, Bach B, Barclay WS, Bogaert D, Chand M, Chechi K, Cooke GS, da Silva Filipe A, de Silva T, Docherty AB, dos Santos Correia G, Dumas ME, Dunning J, Fletcher T, Green CA, Greenhalf W, Griffin J, Gupta RK, Harrison EM, Ho AY, Holden K, Horby PW, Ijaz S, Khoo S, Klenerman P, Law A, Lewis M, Liggi S, Lim WS, Maslen L, Mentzer AJ, Merson L, Meynert AM, Moore SC, Noursadeghi M, Olanipekun M, Osagie A, Palmarini M, Palmieri C, Paxton WA, Pollakis G, Price N, Rambaut A, Robertson DL, Russell CD, Sancho-Shimizu V, Sands C, Scott JT, Sigfrid L, Solomon T, Sriskandan S, Stuart D, Summers C, Swann O V, Takats Z, Takis P, Tedder RS, Thompson AR, Thomson EC, Thwaites RS, Turtle LC, Zambon M, Drake TM, Fairfield CJ, Knight SR, Mclean KA, Murphy D, Norman L, Pius R, Shaw CA, Connor M, Dalton J, Gamble C, Girvan M, Halpin S, Harrison J, Jackson C, Lee J, Marsh L, Plotkin D, Roberts S, Saviciute E, Clohisey S, Hendry R, Knight S, Lahnsteiner E, Leeming G, Norris L, Scott-Brown J, Tait S, Wham M, Clark R, Coutts A, Donelly L, Fawkes A, Gilchrist T, Hafezi K, MacGillivray L, Maclean A, McCafferty S, Morrice K, Murphy L, Wrobel N, Carson G, Adeniji K, Agranoff D, Agwuh K, Ail D, Aldera EL, Alegria A, Allen S, Angus B, Ashish A, Atkinson D, Bari S, Barlow G, Barnass S, Barrett N, Bassford C, Basude S, Baxter D, Beadsworth M, Bernatoniene J, Berridge J, Berry C, Best N, Bothma P, Brittain-Long R, Bulteel N, Burden T, Burtenshaw A, Caruth V, Chadwick D, Chambler D, Chee N, Child J, Chukkambotla S, Clark T, Collini P, Cosgrove C, Cupitt J, Cutino-Moguel MT, Dark P, Dawson

C, Dervisevic S, Donnison P, Douthwaite S, Drummond A, DuRand I, Dushianthan A, Dyer T, Evans C, Eziefula C, Fegan C, Finn A, Fullerton D, Garg S, Garg A, Gkrania-Klotsas E, Godden J, Goldsmith A, Graham C, Grammatikopoulos T, Hardy E, Hartshorn S, Harvey D, Havalda P, Hawcutt DB, Hobrok M, Hodgson L, Hormis A, Howard J, Jacobs M, Jain S, Jennings P, Kaliappan A, Kasipandian V, Kegg S, Kelsey M, Kendall J, Kerrison C, Kerslake I, Koch O, Koduri G, Koshy G, Laha S, Laird S, Larkin S, Leiner T, Lillie P, Limb J, Linnett V, Little J, Lyttle M, MacMahon M, MacNaughton E, Mankregod R, Masson H, Matovu E, McCullough K, McEwen R, Meda M, Mills G, Minton J, Mohandas K, Mok Q, Moon J, Moore E, Morgan P, Morris C, Mortimore K, Moses S, Mpenge M, Mulla R, Murphy M, Nagarajan T, Nagel M, Nelson M, Norris L, O'Shea MK, Ostermann M, Otahal I, Pais M, Panchatsharam S, Papakonstantinou D, Papineni P, Paraiso H, Patel B, Pattison N, Pepperell J, Peters M, Phull M, Pintus S, Planche T, Post F, Price D, Prout R, Rae N, Reschreiter H, Reynolds T, Richardson N, Roberts M, Roberts D, Rose A, Rousseau G, Ruge B, Ryan B, Saluja T, Sarah S, Schmid M, Shah A, Shankar-Hari M, Shanmuga P, Sharma A, Shawcross A, Singh Pooni J, Sizer J, Smith R, Snelson C, Spittle N, Staines N, Stambach T, Stewart R, Subudhi P, Szakmany T, Tatham K, Thomas J, Thompson C, Thompson R, Tridente A, Tupper-Carey D, Twagira M, Vallotton N, Vancheeswaran R, Vincent R, Vincent-Smith L, Visuvanathan S, Vuylsteke A, Waddy S, Wake R, Walden A, Welters I, Whitehouse T, Whittaker P, Whittington A, Wijesinghe M, Williams M, Wilson L, Winchester S, Wiselka M, Wolverson A, Wootton DG, Workman A, Yates B, Young P, McDonald SE, Shaw V, Ahmed KA, Armstrong JA, Ashworth M, Asiimwe IG, Bakshi S, Barlow SL, Booth L, Brennan B, Bullock K, Carlucci N, Cass E, Catterall BW, Clark JJ, Clarke EA, Cole S, Cooper L, Cox H, Davis C, Dincarslan O, Doce Carracedo A, Dunn C, Dyer P, Elliott A, Evans A, Finch L, Fisher LW, Flaherty L, Foster T, Garcia-Dorival I, Gunning P, Hartley C, Holmes A, Jensen RL, Jones CB, Jones TR, Khandaker S, King K, Kiy RT, Koukorava C, Lake A, Lant S, Latawiec D, Lavelle-Langham L, Lefteri D, Lett L, Livoti LA, Mancini M, Massey H, Maziere N, McDonald S, McEvoy L, McLauchlan J, Metelmann S, Miah NS, Middleton J, Mitchell J, Murphy EG, Penrice-Randal R, Pilgrim J, Prince T, Reynolds W, Ridley PM, Sales D, Shaw VE, Shears RK, Small B, Subramaniam KS, Szemiel A, Taggart A, Tanianis-Hughes J, Thomas J, Trochu E, van Tonder L, Wilcock E, Zhang JE, Keating S, Donegan C, Spencer RG, Donohue C, Griffiths F, Hardwick H, Oosthuyzen W, Glover C, Carr J, Clark J, Marshall H, McMullan B, Francis JR, Blyth CC, Macartney K, Carey E, Wood N, Buttery J, Vasilunas N, Elliott E, Richmond P, Wadia U, McMinn A, Bellamy K, Hunter G, Meredith K, Rost L, Kerly N, Dougherty S, Cook S, Doran N, Francis L, Heath C, Finucane C. International Pediatric COVID-19 Severity Over the Course of the Pandemic. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2023 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Oct 4];177(10):1073-84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37603343/

- Kekana D, Naicker SD, Shuping L, Velaphi S, Nakwa FL, Wadula J, Govender NP. Candida auris Clinical Isolates Associated with Outbreak in Neonatal Unit of Tertiary Academic Hospital, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Oct 4];29(10):2044–53. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37735719/
- 38. Yousif M, Rachida S, Taukobong S, Ndlovu N, Iwu-Jaja C, Howard W, Moonsamy S, Mhlambi N, Gwala S, Levy JI, Andersen KG, Scheepers C, von Gottberg A, Wolter N, Bhiman JN, Amoako DG, Ismail A, Suchard M, McCarthy K. SARS-CoV-2 genomic surveillance in wastewater as a model for monitoring evolution of endemic viruses. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2023 Oct 10 [cited 2024 Jan 3];14(1):6325. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37816740/
- Martin-Vicente M, Mthiyane H, Jiménez-Sousa MA, Subramoney K, Hellferscee O, Wolter N, Walaza S, Fernández-Rodríguez A, Cohen C, von Gottberg A, Resino S, Martínez I, Treurnicht FK. TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 polymorphisms and their association with symptomatic human respiratory syncytial virus infection and bronchiolitis in infants younger than one year from South Africa: A case-control study. Int J Infect Dis [Internet]. 2023 Nov 1 [cited 2024 Jan 3]; 136:107–10. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37751795/
- Mokaya J, Mellor KC, Murray GGR, Kalizang'oma A, Lekhuleni C, Zar HJ, Nicol MP, McGee L, Bentley SD, Lo SW, Dube F. Genomic epidemiology of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 16F lineages. Microb genomics [Internet]. 2023 Nov [cited 2024 Jan 3];9(11):001123. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37917136/
- Waterlow NR, Kleynhans J, Wolter N, Tempia S, Eggo RM, Hellferscee O, Lebina L, Martinson N, Wagner RG, Moyes J, von Gottberg A, Cohen C, Flasche S. Transient increased risk of influenza infection following RSV infection in South Africa: findings from the PHIRST study, South Africa, 2016-2018. BMC Med [Internet]. 2023 Nov 15 [cited 2024 Jan 3];21(1):441. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/37968614/
- Moosa F, du Plessis M, Weigand MR, Peng Y, Mogale D, de Gouveia L, Nunes MC, Madhi SA, Zar HJ, Reubenson G, Ismail A, Tondella ML, Cohen C, Walaza S, von Gottberg A, Wolter N. Genomic characterization of Bordetella pertussis in South Africa, 2015-2019. Microb Genomics [Internet]. 2023 Dec 1 [cited 2024 Jan 3];9(12). Available from: https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38117675/
- 43. Khan K, Lustig G, Römer C, Reedoy K, Jule Z, Karim F, Ganga Y, Bernstein M, Baig Z, Jackson L, Mahlangu B, Mnguni A, Nzimande A, Stock N, Kekana D, Ntozini B, van Deventer C, Marshall T, Manickchund N, Gosnell BI, Lessells RJ, Karim QA, Abdool Karim SS, Moosa MYS, de Oliveira T, von Gottberg A, Wolter N, Neher RA, Sigal A. Evolution and neutralization escape of the SARS-CoV-2 BA.2.86 subvariant. Nat Commun

[Internet]. 2023 Dec 6 [cited 2024 Jan 3];14(1):8078. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38057313/

- 44. Bents SJ, Viboud C, Grenfell BT, Hogan AB, Tempia S, von Gottberg A, Moyes J, Walaza S, Hansen C, Cohen C, Baker RE. Modeling the impact of COVID-19 nonpharmaceutical interventions on respiratory syncytial virus transmission in South Africa. Influenza Other Respi Viruses [Internet]. 2023 Dec 10 [cited 2024 Jan 3];17(12). Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38090227/
- 45. Wolter N, Walaza S, von Mollendorf C, von Gottberg A, Tempia S, McMorrow ML, Moyes J, Treurnicht F, Hellferscee O, Moleleki M, Makhasi M, Baute N, Cohen C. Association of HIV Exposure and HIV Infection With In-hospital Mortality Among Hospitalized Infants <1 Year of Age, South Africa, 2016-2018. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc [Internet]. 2023 Dec 16 [cited 2024 Jan 3];12(12):646–51. Available from: https:// pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37952237/
- 46. Myataza A, Thomas J, Smith AM. 2023. Characterization of Salmonella enterica serovar Isangi from South Africa, 2020-2021. BMC Infectious Diseases 23:791 (https://doi. org/10.1186/s12879-023-08786-9)
- Stenhouse GE, Keddy KH, Bengtsson RJ, Hall N, Smith AM, Thomas J, Iturriza-Gomara M, Baker KS. 2023. The genomic epidemiology of shigellosis in South Africa. Nature Communications 14:7715 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-023-43345-5)
- Smith AM, Erasmus LK, Tau NP, Smouse SL, Ngomane HM, Disenyeng B, Whitelaw A, Lawrence CA, Sekwadi P, Thomas J. 2023. Enteric fever cluster identification in South Africa using genomic surveillance of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi. Microbial Genomics 9:001044. (https://doi.org/10.1099/ mgen.0.001044)
- Naicker SD, Shuping L, Zulu TG, Mpembe RS, Mhlanga M, Tsotetsi EM, Maphanga TG, Govender NP; MMed, FC Path SA, for GERMS-SA. Epidemiology and susceptibility of Nakaseomyces (formerly Candida) glabrata bloodstream isolates from hospitalised adults in South Africa. Med Mycol. 2023 Jun 5;61(6):myad057.
- 50. Paccoud O, Shuping L, Mashau R, Greene G, Quan V, Meiring S, Govender NP; for GERMS-SA. Impact of prior cryptococcal antigen screening on in-hospital mortality in cryptococcal meningitis or fungemia among HIV-seropositive individuals in South Africa: a cross-sectional observational study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2023 Apr 20:S1198-743X(23)00189-1.
- Magobo RE, Ismail H, Lowe M, Strasheim W, Mogokotleng R, Perovic O, Kwenda S, Ismail A, Makua M, Bore A, Phayane R, Naidoo H, Dennis T, Ngobese M, Wijnant W, Govender NP; for Baby GERMS-SA. Outbreak of NDM-1- and OXA-181-Producing Klebsiella pneumoniae Bloodstream Infections in a Neonatal Unit, South Africa. Emerg Infect Dis. 2023 Aug;29(8):1531-1539.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

GERMS-SA: Loyiso Mngokoyi, Vanessa Pearce (EC); Bonita van der Westhuisen, George Papsig, Kabelo Finger, Monnya Motlhapi, Thabo Mokoena (FS); Anwar Hoosen, Barry Bhagoobhai, Charl Verwey, David Moore, Dini Mawela, Gary Reubenson, Grace Ntlemo, Jeannette Wadula, Jeremy Nel, Lauren Richards, Lesego Mothibi, Ma-phoshane Nchabeleng, Masego Moncho, Merika Tsitsi, Moamokgethi Moshe, Mohammed Said, Molebogeng Kolojane, Nazir Ismail, Nicolette du Plessis, Rispah Chomba, Sarah Stacey, Sne Ndzandzaba, Teena Thomas, Theunis Avenant, Trusha Nana, Vindana Chibabhai (GA); Douglas Wilson, Fathima Naby, Halima Dawood, Khine Swe Swe Han, Lisha Sookan, Mbongiseni Dlamini, Nomonde Dlamini, Praksha Ramjathan, Prasha Mahabeer, Prathna Bhola, Romola Naidoo, Sumayya Haffejee, Surendra Sirkar, Venesh Rajkumar (KZN); Ken Hamese, Phetho Mangena, Ruth Lekalakala, Virginia Ntswane (LP); Aretha Mokgoadi, Gugu Mncube, Isaac Mofokeng, Lerato Motjale, Mbongiseni Nkambule, Ndalamo Makatu, Thembi Mbowane, Thulisile Maphosa (MP); Eugenie Elliott, Pieter Jooste (NC); Ebrahim Variava, Ignatius Khantsi, Omphile Mekgoe (NW); Adrian Brink, Andrew Whitelaw, Angela Dramowski, Anthea Ryan, Arifa Parker, Elizabeth Prentice, Heather Finlayson, James Nuttal, Jantjie Taljaard, Kessendri Reddy, Sipho Dlamini (WC); Ebrahim Hoosien, Inge Zietsman, Terry Marshall, Xoliswa Poswa (AMPATH); Chetna Govind, Juanita Smit, Keshree Pillay, Sharona Seetharam , Victoria Howell (LANCET); Catherine Samuel, Marthinus Senekal, Colleen Bamford (PathCare); Andries Dreyer, Louis Marcus, Warren Lowman (Vermaak and Vennote); Adrian Puren, Anne von Gottberg, Anthony Smith, Azwifarwi Mathunjwa, Bhavani Moodley, Caroline Maluleka, Cecilia Miller, Charlotte Sriruttan-Nel, Cheryl Cohen, Jacqueline Weyer, Jackie Kleynhans, Jenny Rossouw, John Frean, Kate Bishop, Kerrigan McCarthy, Liliwe Shuping, Linda de Gouveia, Linda Erasmus, Lucille Blumberg, Marshagne Smith, Martha Makgoba, Mignon du Plessis, Mimmy Ngomane, Mokupi Manaka, Nelesh Govender, Neo Legare, Nicola Page, Nishi Prabdial-Sing, Nombulelo Hoho, Olga Perovic, Phuti Sekwadi, Rudzani Mashau, Ruth Mpembe, Ruth Mogokotleng, Sabelle Jallow, Sibongile Walaza, Sunnieboy Njikho, Susan Meiring, Susan Nzenze, Tiisetso Lebaka, Tuelo Matotong, Vanessa Quan, Veerle Msimang, Wendy Ngubane (NICD)

#### NICD Centre Staff:

**Centre for Enteric Diseases (CED):** Bolele Disenyeng, Dineo Bogoshi, Lesego Thipenyane, Lizzy Madiwani, Mzikazi Dickmolo, Nomsa Tau, Rembuluwani Netshikweta, Sandrama Nadan, Shannon Williams, Tersia Kruger, Tshegofatso Ntshabele, Tumiso Moketla

**Centre for Healthcare-Associated Infections, Antimicrobial Resistance and Mycoses (CHARM):** Amanda Shilubane, Boitumelo Kgoale, Boniwe Makwakwa, Ernest Tsotetsi, Gloria Molaba, Gift Sandhleni, Mbali Dube, MphoThanjekwayo, Naseema Bulbulia, Nikiwe Power, Rosah Mabokachaba, Rotondwa, Miriam Mwamba, Mudau, Rubeina Badat, Ruth Mogokotleng, Sabelle Jallow, Serisha Naicker, Silondiwe Nzimande, Tsidiso Maphanga

**Centre for Respiratory Diseases and Meningitis (CRDM):** Dineo Mogale, Fahima Moosa, Happy Skosana, Kedibone Ndlangisa, Maimuna Carrim, Noluthando Duma, Rivionia Nero, Sibusisiwe Zulu, Thembi Mthembu

**Centre for Emerging Zoonotic and Parasitic Diseases (CEZPD):** Angelina Seko, John Ratabane, Lisa Ming Sun, Ntswaki Seolwanyane, Shareen Boughan, Thandokuhle Tshabalala

**Division of Public Health Surveillance and Response** (DPHSR): Emily Sikanyika, Tsakane Nkuna, Yoliswa Qulu

#### Provincial surveillance teams:

Eastern Cape Province: Badikazi Matiwana, Sandisiwe Joyi Free State Province: Khasiane Mawasha, Thandeka Kosana Gauteng Province: Chulumanco Nkosi, Deborah Makobe, Dikeledi Leshaba, John Mothlasi, Kamohelo Van Eck, Molly Morapeli, Nthabiseng Motati, Ntombizanele Nkomo, Patience Ngube, Phindile Ngema, Phumelelo Mavundla, Rachel Nare, Venesa Kok, Vusi Ndlovu, Zodwa Kgaphola

**KwaZulu-Natal Province:** Indran Naidoo, Nelisiwe Buthelezi, Nhlakanipho Malinga, Nkoshinathi Mbhele, Nondumiso Amahle Khoza, Nothando Mthembu, Thobeka Simelane Shandu

Limpopo Province: Tebogo Modiba

**Mpumalanga Province:** Elizabeth Motaung, Gift Mnisi, Kgashane Rapaledi, Lesley Ingle, Ndugiselo Muravha, Sam Chongo, Tumelo Thlomelang, Zanele Sewele, Sewele, Godfrey Ndlovu

Northern Cape: Matsheko Thekiso

**North West Province:** Bernard Motsestse, Kholiwe Mgidlana, Koketso Manaka, Sebongile Quariva, Seipati Matshogo, Tshwanelo Mahloko, Yvette Nero

Western Cape Province: Babalwa Magawu, Charlene Isaacs, Cheryl Mentor, Kholofelo Lebelo, Lerato Qoza, Msimelelo Madlingozi, Nazila Shalabi, Phathiswa Ranyana, Portia Maphumulo, Priscilla Mouton, Sinesipho Makaluza, Yonela Zokufa, Zama Mfundisi

GERMS-SA would like to thank laboratory staff and clinical staff at participating sites throughout South Africa for submitting case report forms and isolates, administrative staff at facilities across the country who have facilitated participation in the surveillance programme, surveillance officers at ESS for their tireless efforts, the patients who participated in surveillance activities, despite their illnesses, NICD staff working on the programme for their dedica-tion and hard work, our international and local collaborators, including the NICD/NHLS management for their sup-port of the programme, and the South African Department of Health.